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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

March 7, 2025

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors
of Lyons Bancorp Inc.:

Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Lyons Bancorp, Inc.
(a New York State corporation) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related 
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and 
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the
“consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”), and our report dated March 7, 
2025, expressed an unqualified opinion.

Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial 
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance 
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) and in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error 
or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and 
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, 
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2011.

Bonadio & Co., LLP
Pittsford, New York
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(Continued)

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

March 7, 2025

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Lyons Bancorp, Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited Lyons Bancorp, Inc.’s (the “Company”) internal control over financial 
reporting, including controls over the preparation of regulatory financial statements in 
accordance with the instructions for the Consolidated Reports of Condition and Income 
for a Bank with Domestic Offices Only – FFIEC 041 (FDIC Call Report) as of December 
31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(“COSO”). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAS”), the consolidated 
balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, 
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows of the Company, and our report dated March 7, 2025, 
expressed an unqualified opinion.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with standards of the PCAOB and GAAS. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting section of our 
report. We are required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for designing, implementing, and maintaining effective 
internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment about the effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
(Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting 
was maintained in all material respects and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion on internal 
control over financial reporting. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit of internal control over financial reporting conducted in accordance 
with PCAOB or GAAS will always detect a material weakness when it exists.

In performing an audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with PCAOB and GAAS, we:
 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
 Obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assess the risks that a material

weakness exists, and test and evaluate the design and operating effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting based on the assessed risk.

Definition and Inherent Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
An institution’s internal control over financial reporting is a process effected by those charged with governance, 
management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the preparation of reliable 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
Because management’s assessment and our audit were conducted to meet the reporting requirements of Section 
112 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act (FDICIA), our audit of the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting included controls over the preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and controls over the 
preparation of schedules equivalent to basic financial statements in accordance with the Federal Financial 
Institutions Examination Council Instructions for Consolidated Reports of Condition and Income (Call Report 
Instructions). An institution’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the institution; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America, and that receipts and expenditures of the institution are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and those charged with governance; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention, or timely detection and correction of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition
of the institution’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements. Also, projections of any assessment of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Bonadio & Co., LLP
Pittsford, New York
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2024 and 2023

2024 2023

Assets (In 
thousands)

Cash and due from banks $21,246 $20,595 

   Interest-bearing deposits in banks 46,447 36,678 

Investment securities:
       Available for sale securities, at fair value 282,516 299,920 

       Held to maturity securities at amortized cost, net of 34,383 40,243 

 allowance for credit losses of $23 in 2024 and
 and $28 in 2023.
 Restricted securities, at cost 9,416 7,305 

Total Investment Securities 326,315 347,468 

Loans 1,468,371 1,378,610 

Less: allowance for credit losses on loans (20,875) (19,493)

Net Loans 1,447,496 1,359,117 

Land, premises and equipment, net 24,033 24,804 

Bank-owned life insurance 21,911 21,834 

Accrued interest receivable and other assets 37,431 38,068 

Total Assets $1,924,879 $1,848,564 

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Liabilities

Deposits:
     Interest-bearing $1,283,781 $1,164,925 

     Non-interest-bearing 480,843 462,229 

Total Deposits 1,764,624 1,627,154 

Subordinated debentures 20,940 20,927 

Borrowings from Federal Reserve Bank                  - 71,000 

Accrued interest payable and other liabilities 23,480 25,823 

Total Liabilities 1,809,044 1,744,904 

Stockholders' Equity
Lyons Bancorp, Inc. stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock 1 2 

Common stock 1,720 1,719 

Paid-in capital 28,489 28,479 

Retained earnings 123,669 113,667 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (36,576) (39,747)

Treasury stock, at cost (1,524) (516)

Total Lyons Bancorp, Inc. Stockholders’ Equity 115,779 103,604 

Noncontrolling interest 56 56 

Total Stockholders' Equity 115,835 103,660 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $1,924,879 $1,848,564 

                       The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income 
Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

2024 2023

Interest Income
         Loans $73,551 $61,957 
         Investment securities:

      Taxable 10,590 8,857
      Non-taxable 1,089 1,189

Total Interest Income 85,230 72,003
Interest Expense

Deposits 33,943 22,138
Borrowings 4,285 2,005

Total Interest Expense 38,228 24,143

Net Interest Income 47,002 47,860

Provision for Credit Losses 1,884 1,040

Net Interest Income after Provision for Credit Losses 45,118 46,820
Noninterest Income

Cardholder fees 4,425 4,409
Service charges on deposit accounts 3,328 3,175

            Realized gains on loans sold 2,796 1,861
            Loan servicing fees 2,525 2,192

Financial services fees 2,129 1,746
Earnings on investment in bank owned life insurance (BOLI) 467 425
BOLI death benefit              285              463 
Net realized losses from sales of securities              (71)              (32)
Other 1,245 638

Total Noninterest Income 17,129 14,877
Noninterest Expense

Salaries and wages 18,163 16,939
Pensions and benefits 5,240 4,578
Professional fees 3,881 3,564
Occupancy 3,684 3,574
Data processing 2,812 2,472
Cardholder expense 1,714 1,542
FDIC and OCC assessments 1,380 1,228
Advertising 785 886
Office supplies 246 243
Other 4,247 4,112

Total Noninterest Expense 42,152 39,138

Income before Income Tax Expense 20,095 22,559

Income Tax Expense 4,626 5,200
Net income 15,469 17,359

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 5 5
Net income attributable to Lyons Bancorp, Inc. 15,464 17,354
Preferred stock dividends            (243)            (250)

Net Income available to common shareholders $15,221 $17,104 
Earnings Per Share – basic $4.46 $5.00 

      Earnings Per Share – diluted $4.38 $4.90 

(In thousands, except per share 
data)
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

2024 2023

Net Income 15,469$             17,359$            

Other Comprehensive Income 
Securities Available for Sale: 

Net unrealized gains during the year 2,933 3,573                
Reclassification adjustment for losses included in income 71                     32                    

Pension and Postretirement Benefits:
Amortization of net gain 96                     42                    
Net actuarial gain (loss) 1,130                (772)                 

(in thousands)

4,230                2,875                
Net Tax Expense (1,059)               (720)                 

Other Comprehensive Income 3,171                2,155                

Total Comprehensive Income 18,640               19,514              
Comprehensive Income attributable to noncontrolling interest (5)                      (5)                     

Comprehensive Income attributable to Lyons Bancorp, Inc. 18,635$             19,509$            
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 
Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
 
 

(In thousands, except per share data) Accumulated
Additional Other

Common Preferred Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Treasury Noncontrolling
Stock Stock Capital Earnings Loss Stock Interest Total

BALANCE, January 1, 2023 1,718$    3$           28,386$ 99,842$   (41,902)$ (742)$     56$           87,361$     

     Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle upon -              -              -              1,702        -                -              -                1,702          
          adoption of ASU 2016-13
     Net income for 2023 -              -              -              17,354      -                -              5                17,359        
     Total other comprehensive income, net -              -              -              -                2,155 -              -                2,155          
     Purchase of treasury stock, net of purchase fee -              -              -              -                -                (30)          -                (30)              
     Deferred Comp shares issued from treasury -              -              93 -                -                256 -                349             
     Conversion of trust preferred securities to common stock 1              (1)            -              -                -                -              -                -                  
     Dividends to noncontrolling interests -              -              -              -                -                -              (5) (5)                
     Dividends declared Preferred Series A $50.00 per share -              -              -              (250) -                -              -                (250)            
     Cash dividends declared-$1.47 per share -              -              -              (4,981) -                -              -                (4,981)        

BALANCE, December 31, 2023 1,719$    2$           28,479$ 113,667$ (39,747)$ (516)$     56$           103,660$   

     Net income for 2024 -              -              -              15,464      -                -              5                15,469        
     Total other comprehensive income, net -              -              -              -                3,171 -              -                3,171          
     Purchase of treasury stock, net of purchase fee -              -              -              -                -                (1,379)    -                (1,379)        
     Deferred Comp shares issued from treasury -              -              10 -                -                371 -                381             
     Conversion of trust preferred securities to common stock 1              (1)            -              -                -                -              -                -                  
     Dividends to noncontrolling interests -              -              -              -                -                -              (5) (5)                
     Dividends declared Preferred Series A $50.00 per share -              -              -              (243) -                -              -                (243)            
     Cash dividends declared-$1.55 per share -              -              -              (5,219) -                -              -                (5,219)        

BALANCE, December 31, 2024 1,720$    1$           28,489$ 123,669$ (36,576)$ (1,524)$  56$           115,835$   
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 

 

2024 2023
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net income  $                       15,469  $      17,359 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Provision for credit losses                             1,884 1,040 
Earnings on investment in bank owned life insurance                               (467) (425)
BOLI Death benefit                               (285)              (463)
Net realized loss from sales of securities                                   71                  32 
Realized gains on loans sold                           (2,796) (1,861)
Gain on the sale of OREO                                   (1) 0 
Amortization of debt issuance costs                                   13 12 
Deferred compensation expense                                 174 509 
Net amortization on securities                                 146 550 
Depreciation and amortization                             1,284 1,318 
Deferred income tax                                 (35) 83 
Contribution to defined benefit pension plan                                                                                                                                       (2,000)                   -   
Increase in accrued interest receivable and other assets                               (384) (5,058)
Increase in accrued interest payable and other liabilities                                 474 1,834 
Loans originated for sale                       (127,659)      (105,971)
Proceeds from sales of loans                         128,905 100,119 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 14,793 9,078 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Net change in interest bearing deposits at other financial institutions (9,769) (17,791)
Purchases of securities available for sale (47,403) (2,845)
Proceeds from sales of securities available for sale                           22,364                218 
Proceeds from maturities and calls of securities available for sale 45,393 14,341 
Purchases of held to maturity securities (1,813) (6,456)
Proceeds from maturities of securities held to maturity 7,516 4,637 
Net change in restricted securities (2,111) (1,782)
Net increase in portfolio loans (88,648) (71,459)
Proceeds from BOLI death benefit                                 675                809 
Premises and equipment purchases (513) (234)

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (74,309) (80,562)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net increase (decrease) in demand and savings deposits 14,325 (66,666)
Net increase (decrease) in time deposits 123,145 70,615 
Preferred Stock Dividend (243) (250)
Purchase of treasury stock                           (1,379)                (30)
Issuance of treasury stock                                 381                349 
(Repayments) borrowings from Federal Reserve Bank                         (71,000)           71,000 
Dividends paid (5,062) (4,986)

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 60,167 70,032 

651 (1,452)

Cash and Cash Equivalents – Beginning 20,595 22,047 

Cash and Cash Equivalents – Ending 21,246$                       20,595$      

Supplementary Cash Flow Information
Interest paid  $                       32,900  $      21,973 

Income taxes paid  $                         5,083  $         5,420 

Dividends declared not yet paid 1,343$                         1,181$         

(In thousands)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Nature of Operations 

Lyons Bancorp, Inc. (the Company) provides a full range of commercial and retail Banking services to individual and small 
business customers through its wholly-owned subsidiary, The Lyons National Bank (the Bank).  The Bank's operations are 
conducted in sixteen branches located in Wayne, Onondaga, Yates, Ontario, Monroe, Seneca and Cayuga Counties, New 
York.  The Company and the Bank are subject to the regulations of certain federal agencies and undergo periodic 
examinations by those regulatory authorities. 

The Company owns all of the voting common shares of Lyons Capital Statutory Trust II (Trust II). Trust II was formed in 
2004. The Trust was formed for the purpose of securitizing trust preferred securities, the proceeds of which were advanced 
to the Company and contributed to the Bank as additional capital.  

The Bank owns all of the voting stock of Lyons Realty Associates Corp. (LRAC).  LRAC is a real estate investment trust 
which holds a portfolio of real estate mortgages.  In order to maintain its status as a real estate investment trust, LRAC holds 
the real estate mortgages until they are paid. The real estate mortgages held by LRAC are included in loans on the 
consolidated balance sheets.   

Basis of Presentation 

The consolidated financial statements combine the results of operations, the assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity 
(including comprehensive income or loss) of the Company and all entities in which the Company has a controlling financial 
interest. All significant intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in consolidation. 

   
Reclassification 
 
Amounts in the prior year consolidated financial statements are reclassified when necessary to conform to the current year’s 
presentation. The effects of such reclassifications, if any, did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial 
statements. 
  
Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.  Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant change in the near future relate to the 
determination of the allowance and provision for credit losses, actuarial assumptions associated with the Company’s benefit 
plans. 

Investment Securities 

Securities are classified as held to maturity (HTM) and carried at amortized cost when management has the positive intent 
and ability to hold them until maturity. Debt securities to be held for indefinite periods of time are classified as available 
for sale (AFS) and carried at fair value, with the unrealized holding gains and losses reported as a component of other 
comprehensive income, net of tax. Securities held for resale for liquidity purposes are classified as trading and are carried 
at fair value, with changes in unrealized holding gains and losses included in income. Management determines the 
appropriate classification of securities at the time of purchase.   
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
Investment Securities 

Purchase premiums and discounts are recognized in interest income using the interest method or methods that approximate 
the interest method over the terms of the securities. Interest and dividends on securities are recognized in interest income 
using the interest method over the terms of the securities. Gains and losses on the sale of securities are determined using the 
specific identification method and are recorded on the trade date. 

Interest income includes amortization of purchase premium or discount. Premiums and discounts on securities are generally 
amortized on the level-yield method without anticipating prepayments, except for mortgage-backed securities where 
prepayments are anticipated. Premiums on callable debt securities are amortized to their earliest call date. Gains and losses 
on sales are recorded on the trade date and determined using the specific identification method. 

A debt security is placed on nonaccrual status at the time any principal or interest payments become delinquent.  A security 
is considered to be delinquent once it is 90 days contractually past due under the terms of the agreement.  Interest accrued 
but not received for a security placed on non-accrual is reversed against interest income. 

The Bank’s investments portfolio may be exposed to some risk of loss including but not limited to market, credit, liquidity, 
interest rate, currency, financing, covenant, and repayment risks.  Due to these risks, the profitability of the Bank may be 
affected and amounts ultimately realized with respect to the Bank’s investments may differ from the fair values recorded.  
Management believes the risk of loss, if any, arising from such risk, while not quantifiable, is remote. 

The Company considers the following factors in determining whether a credit loss exists and the period over which the 
security is expected to recover: 

• The length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than the amortized cost basis; 

• The level of credit enhancement provided by the structure which includes, but is not limited to, credit subordination 
positions, excess spreads, overcollateralization, protective triggers; 

• Changes in the near term prospects of the issuer or underlying collateral of a security, such as changes in default rates,         
loss severities given default and significant changes in prepayment assumptions; 

• The level of excess cash flow generated from the underlying collateral supporting the principal and interest payments 
of the debt securities; and 

• Any adverse change to the credit conditions of the issuer of the security such as credit downgrades by the rating 
agencies. 

Restricted Securities 

The Bank is a member of the Federal Home Loan Banks (FHLB) system. Members are required to own a certain amount of 
stock based on the level of borrowings and other factors, and may invest in additional amounts. FHLB stock is carried at 
cost, classified as a restricted security and periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par value. 
Both cash and stock dividends are reported as income. 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
Loans 

The Bank is a member of its regional Federal Reserve Bank (FRB). FRB stock is carried at cost, classified as a restricted 
equity security, and periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par value. Both cash and stock 
dividends are reported as income. 

The Bank grants real estate, commercial and consumer loans to its customers.  A substantial portion of the loan portfolio is 
represented by real estate loans in Wayne, Ontario, Monroe, Yates, Onondaga, Seneca and Cayuga Counties.  The 
Company’s loan portfolio includes residential real estate, commercial real estate, agricultural real estate, commercial and 
agricultural loans, and consumer installment classes.  Residential real estate loans include classes for 1-4 family and home 
equity loans.  Consumer installment loans include classes for direct and indirect loans. 
 
Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or payoff are stated at 
their outstanding unpaid principal balances, net of an allowance for credit losses and any deferred fees or costs. Accrued 
interest receivable totaled $7.0 million and $6.7 million at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively and 
was reported in accrued interest receivable and other assets on the consolidated balance sheets and is excluded from the 
estimate of credit losses. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. Loan origination fees, net of certain 
direct origination costs, are deferred and recognized as an adjustment of the yield (interest income) of the related loans. The 
Bank is generally amortizing these amounts over the contractual life of the loan. Premiums and discounts on purchased 
loans are amortized as adjustments to interest income using the effective yield method. 

Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. The accrual of interest on loans is discontinued at the time the 
loan is 90 days past due unless the credit is well-secured and in process of collection.  Credit card loans and other personal 
loans are typically charged off no later than 180 days past due.  Past due status is based on contractual terms of the loan.  In 
all cases, loans are placed on nonaccrual or charged-off at an earlier date if collection of principal or interest is considered 
doubtful.  All interest accrued but not collected for loans that are placed on nonaccrual or charged off is reversed against 
interest income or the allowance for credit losses if the interest income was earned in a prior period.  The interest on these 
loans is accounted for on the cash-basis or cost-recovery method, until qualifying for return to accrual.  Loans are returned 
to accrual status when all the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current and future payments are 
reasonably assured. 
 
Non-accrual and Past Due Loans 
 
Loans are considered past due if the required principal and interest payments have not been received within thirty days of 
the payment due date. 
 
For all classes of loans receivable, the accrual of interest is discontinued when the contractual payment of principal or 
interest has become 90 days past due or management has serious doubts about further collectability of principal or interest, 
even though the loan may be currently performing. A loan may remain on accrual status if it is in the process of collection 
and is either guaranteed or well secured.  When a loan is placed on non-accrual status, unpaid interest is reversed and 
charged to interest income.  Interest received on non-accrual loans, including individually analyzed loans, generally is either 
applied against principal or reported as interest income, according to management’s judgment as to the collectability of 
principal.  Generally, loans are restored to accrual status when the obligation is brought current, has performed in accordance 
with the contractual terms for a reasonable period of time, and the ultimate collectability of the total contractual principal 
and interest is no longer in doubt.   

When future collectability of the recorded loan balance is expected, interest income may be recognized on a cash basis.  In 
the case where a non-accrual loan had been partially charged off, recognition of interest on a cash basis is limited to that  
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
Non-accrual and Past Due Loans (Continued) 
 
which would have been recognized on the recorded loan balance at the contractual interest rate.  Cash interest receipts in 
excess of that amount are recorded as recoveries to allowance for credit losses until prior charge-offs have been fully 
recovered. 

Loans Held for Sale 

Generally, loans held for sale consist of residential mortgage loans that are originated and are intended to be sold through 
agreements the Bank has with the FHLB and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac).  Realized gains 
and losses on sales are computed using the specific identification method.  These loans are carried on the consolidated 
balance sheets at the lower of cost or estimated fair value determined in the aggregate. Residential loans held for sale totaled 
$13.1 million and $11.6 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and are included in loans on the consolidated 
balance sheets. 

During 2024 and 2023, the Company sold residential mortgage loans totaling $128.9 million and $100.1 million, 
respectively, and realized gains on these sales were $2.8 million and $1.9 million, respectively. These residential real estate 
loans are generally sold without recourse in accordance with standard secondary market loan sale agreements. When 
residential mortgage loans are sold, the Company typically retains all servicing rights, which provides the Company with a 
source of fee income. In connection with the sales in 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded mortgage-servicing assets of 
$1.6 million and $1 million, respectively.  Amortization of mortgage-servicing assets amounted to $651,000 in 2024 and 
$652,000 in 2023.  Net mortgage-servicing assets included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets totaled $4.4 
million and $3.4 million, net of amortization, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.   
 
Government-guaranteed loans which may be sold after origination are not classified as held for sale in as much as sale of 
such loans is largely dependent upon the extent to which gains may be realized.  
 
During 2024 and 2023, the Company sold no commercial loans.  There were no commercial loans held for sale at December 
31, 2024 or 2023. 
 
Total loans serviced for others and excluded from the consolidated balance sheets of the Company amounted to $609 million 
and $535.8 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 

Allowance for Credit Losses – Loans  

The allowance for credit losses (ACL) is a valuation account that is deducted from the loans’ amortized cost basis to present 
the net amount expected to be collected over the life of the loans. Loans are charged off against the allowance when 
management believes the uncollectibility of a loan balance is confirmed. Expected recoveries do not exceed the aggregate 
of amounts previously charged-off and expected to be charged-off. 

Management estimates the allowance balance using relevant available information, from internal and external sources, 
relating to past events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Historical credit loss experience 
provides the basis for the estimation of expected credit losses. Adjustments to historical loss information are made for 
differences in current loan-specific risk characteristics such as difference in underwriting standards, portfolio mix, 
delinquency level, or term as well as for changes in environmental conditions, such as changes in employment rates, property 
values, or other relevant factors.  
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
Allowance for Credit Losses - Loans – (Continued) 

Loans are pooled based on their homogeneous risk characteristics. Once loans have been segmented into pools, a loss rate 
is applied to the amortized cost basis. The Bank has elected to divide the loan portfolio into portfolio segments based on 
Call Report Codes and apply expected loss estimation methodologies to loans where reserves have not been evaluated on 
an individual loan basis (collectively evaluated loans).  The use of a call report code based segmentation achieved the 
objective of separating loans with different risk characteristics into pools of loans with similar risk characteristics and yet 
is broad enough to maintain statistical relevance, allowing for the consideration of a meaningful number of observations in 
the various segments. 

The allowance for credit losses is measured on a collective (pool) basis when similar characteristics exist. The Company 
has identified the following portfolio segments and measures the allowance for credit losses using the following methods:  

The Bank utilizes the Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) method with expected losses calculated using a Probability of 
Default/Loss Given Default (PD/LGD) model as its method of choice for estimating expected losses.  The DCF method 
assesses a probability of default with loss given default. The probability of default and loss given default are applied to 
future cash flows that are adjusted to present value and these discounted expected losses become the allowance for credit 
losses. The DCF model data fields required to create the contractual portion of the forward looking cash flow schedule relate 
to the terms of each loan and include information regarding payment amount, payment frequency, interest rate, interest type, 
maturity date, amortization term, etc., Contractual terms must be adjusted for prepayments to arrive at expected cash flows. 
The Bank modeled amortizing/installment notes with a prepayment rate, annualized to one year. For loans where principal 
collection is by borrower election, e.g. lines of credit, interest only, etc. and not by contractual obligation, the Bank modeled 
a statistical tendency to repay as a curtailment rate normalized to one year. 

The Bank uses forecasts to predict how modeled economic factors will perform. The Bank currently elects to forecast 
economic factors over a period of four quarters for which it can produce a reliable and accurate forecast from widely 
accepted economic forecast resources. After the forecast period of four quarters, loss rates are reverted on a straight line 
basis to the economic factor’s average.  

The Bank found that the base model for predicting defaults is the National Unemployment Rate. With the large number of 
observations using peer data, the default curve is less sensitive to unusual loss events and has a much more straightforward 
shape. The National Unemployment Rate is an extremely strong predictor of defaults. 

The reserve is calculated based on a life of loan basis. The life of loan is assumed with consideration of prepayment and 
contractual maturity dates. If a given loan does not have a populated maturity date, based upon historical experience, the 
Bank elected to amortize the loan for a length of time equal to the average life of the loan’s segment before the remaining 
balance will balloon with the exception of commercial demand lines of credit where the Bank uses one year, reflecting the 
demand nature of these exposures with annual review.  

The contractual term excludes expected extensions, renewals, and modifications unless either of the following applies: 
management has reasonable expectation that a loan modification will be executed with an individual borrower or the 
extension or renewal options are included in the original or modified contract at the reporting date and are not 
unconditionally cancellable by the Company. 

The Bank also selected Weighted Average Remaining Maturity (WARM) method for certain consumer loan pools whereby 
a DCF analysis was not deemed appropriate.  This average life calculation is based on an attrition rate calculation derived 
from loan payoffs or exits during the historical calculation period.  Having computed the average life of the segment, the 
Bank evenly spreads repayment of the loan segment over the previously calculated average life and applies a periodic loss  
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
Allowance for Credit Losses - Loans – (Continued)  
 
rate to the outstanding principal balances in the segment over that time period.  The Bank utilizes the average annual loss 
rates calculated from peer call report losses in each segment to calculate the ACL for segments for which the remaining life 
methodology is utilized.    

The four Call Code pools analyzed with WARM are Credit Cards, Automobile, Other Consumer and Other revolving credit 
plans (Ready Reserve LOCs).  The WARM method was selected for these specific pools because insufficient data exists to 
build a relevant or statistically strong regression formula. The DCF method is used for all other loan pools. 

Loans that do not share risk characteristics are evaluated on an individual basis. Loans evaluated individually are not 
included in the collective evaluation. When management determines that foreclosure is probable, expected credit losses are 
based on the fair value of the collateral at the reporting date, adjusted for selling costs as appropriate. 

Management, considering current information and events regarding the borrowers’ ability to repay their obligations, 
considers a loan for individual analysis when it is probable that the Company will be unable to collect all amounts due 
according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. When a loan is considered to be individually analyzed, the amount 
of the credit loss is measured based on the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective 
interest rate, or at the loan’s observable fair value or the fair value of underlying collateral if the loan is collateral-dependent. 
The change in the allowance for credit losses through a charge to the provision for loan losses. Cash receipts on individually 
analyzed loans are generally applied to reduce the principal balance outstanding. In considering loans for individual analysis, 
management generally excludes smaller balance, homogeneous loans: residential mortgage loans, home equity loans, and 
all consumer loans. These loans are collectively evaluated for risk of loss. 
 
The Bank also considers Qualitative Factors (QF) that are likely to cause estimated credit losses with the Bank’s existing 
portfolio to differ from historical loss experience, including    

1) Effects of any changes in lending policy 
2) Nation/Local economic trends & conditions (excluding national unemployment) 
3) Trends in volume and terms of loans 
4) Expertise, ability and depth of management 
5) Levels and trends of delinquencies, non-accruals and classified loans 
6) Quality of institutions loan review system 
7) Collateral value for collateral dependent loans 
8) Concentrations of credit 
9) Competition, legal & regulatory requirements on level of estimated credit losses 

 
The Bank will periodically assess if qualitative adjustments to the ACL are necessary based on an assessment of current 
expected credit losses. The range for the QF in a specific pool represents the difference, in basis points between the portfolio 
segment loss explained by the regression analysis (r-squared factor) and the total loss for the period.  
 
Excluded from the pooled analysis are loans to be individually evaluated due to the assets not maintaining similar risk 
characteristics to those in the designated segments. These loans are generally considered to be collateral dependent and 
therefore an analysis of the collateral position versus the pooled loan discounted cash flow approach better reflects the  
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
Allowance for Credit Losses-Loans– (Continued)  
 
potential loss. Individually evaluated accounts include loans over 90 days past due, loans marked as restructured, and loans 
placed on nonaccrual status. 

The qualitative factors are determined based on the various risk characteristics of each loan type.  Risk characteristics 
relevant to each loan type are as follows: 

Residential real estate – The Company generally does not originate loans with a loan-to-value ratio greater than 80 percent 
and does not grant subprime loans.  The majority of loans in this segment are collateralized by owner-occupied residential 
real estate and repayment is dependent on the credit quality of the individual borrower.  The overall health of the economy, 
including unemployment rates and housing prices, will have an effect on the credit quality in this class. 

Commercial real estate – Loans in this class represent both extensions of credit for owner-occupied real estate and income-
producing properties throughout the local region.  The underlying cash flows of the operating commercial businesses 
(owner-occupied) and income properties (non-owner-occupied) can be adversely impacted by a downturn in the economy 
as evidenced by increased vacancy rates, which in turn, will have an effect on the credit quality in this class.  In a majority 
of cases, the Company obtains rent rolls annually and continually monitors the cash flows of non-owner occupied loans 
commensurate with sound lending practices. 

Agricultural real estate – Loans in this class represent extensions of credit for owner-occupied agricultural real estate 
throughout the local region.  The underlying cash flows generated by the agribusinesses can be adversely impacted by 
adverse climate and a weakened economy, which in turn, will have an effect on the credit quality in this class.  Management 
obtains annual tax returns and continually monitors the cash flows of these loans commensurate with sound lending 
practices. 

Commercial and Agricultural loans – Loans in these classes are made to businesses and generally secured by the assets of 
the business.  Repayment is expected from the cash flows of the business.  A weakened economy, and resultant decreased 
consumer spending, will have an effect on the credit quality in this class. 

Consumer installment loans – Loans in this segment may be secured or unsecured and repayment is dependent on the credit 
quality of the individual borrower.  Unemployment rates will have an effect on the credit quality in this class. 

All collateral-dependent loans require appraisals and/or chattel evaluations within 180 days of impairment, unless existing 
evaluation is less than 24 months old and no market or physical deterioration is noted. Re-appraisals and/or re-evaluations 
are conducted whenever deemed appropriate, but typically performed on a 24-month cycle if repayment is predicated upon 
liquidation of collateral and evidence suggests collateral values may have deteriorated. 
 
Loans that experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are not classified as individually 
analyzed.  Management determines the significance of payment delays and payment shortfalls on a case-by-case basis, 
taking into consideration all of the circumstances surrounding the loan and the borrower, including the length of the delay, 
the reason for the delay, the borrower’s prior payment record, and the amount of the shortfall in relation to the principal and 
interest owed. 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Off-Balance Sheet Credit Exposures 

The Company estimates expected credit losses over the contractual period in which the Company is exposed to credit risk 
via a contractual obligation to extend credit, unless that obligation is unconditionally cancellable by the Company. The 
allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet credit exposures is adjusted through the provision for credit losses. The 
estimate includes consideration of the likelihood that funding will occur and an estimate of expected credit losses on 
commitments expected to be funded over its estimated life. Total ACL for off-balance sheet credit exposures amounted to 
$487,000 and $415,000 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively and is included in accrued interest payable and 
other liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The provision for credit losses related to off-balance 
sheet credit exposures recorded during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 totaled $72,000 and $20,000, 
respectively and is included as a component of the provision for credit losses. 

Allowance for Credit Losses – Held-to-Maturity Securities 

Management measures expected credit losses on held-to-maturity debt securities on a collective basis by major security 
type. Accrued interest receivable on held-to-maturity debt securities totaled $118,000 and $195,000 at December 31, 2024 
and 2023, respectively and is excluded from the estimate of credit losses. The estimate of expected credit losses considers 
historical credit loss information that is adjusted for current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts.  

The Bank’s HTM debt securities are also required to utilize the current expected credit losses approach to estimate expected 
credit losses. HTM debt securities included securities that are issued by U S government agencies or U S government 
sponsored enterprises. These securities carry the explicit and/or implicit guaranty of the U S government, are widely 
recognized as “risk free,” and have a long history of zero credit losses. The Bank also carries a portfolio of HTM municipal 
bonds. The estimate is based on historical credit losses, if any, adjusted for current conditions and reasonable and 
supportable forecasts. The Bank considers the nature of the collateral, potential future changes in collateral values and 
available loss information.  

Allowance for Credit Losses – Available-for-Sale Securities 

For available-for-sale debt securities in an unrealized loss position the Company first assess whether it intends to sell, or it 
is more likely than not that it will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis. If either of the 
criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met, the security is written down to fair value through income. For debt 
securities available-for-sale that do not meet the aforementioned criteria, the Company evaluates whether the decline in fair 
value has resulted from credit losses or other factors. In making this assessment, management considers the extent to which 
fair value is less than amortized cost, any changes to the rating of the security by a rating agency, and adverse conditions 
specifically related to the security, among other factors. If this assessment indicates that a credit loss exists, the present 
value of cash flows expected to be collected from the security are compared to the amortized cost basis of the security. If 
the present value of cash flows expected to be collected is less than the amortized cost basis, a credit loss exists and an 
allowance for credit losses is recorded for the credit loss, limited by the amount that the fair value is less than the amortized 
cost basis. Any unrealized loss that has not been recorded through an allowance for credit losses is recognized in other 
comprehensive income. 

Changes in the allowance for credit losses are recorded as credit loss expense (or reversal). Losses are charged against the 
allowance when management believes the uncollectibility of an available-for-sale security is confirmed or when either of 
the criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met.  
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Available-for-Sale Securities (Continued) 

For AFS securities in an unrealized loss position, the Bank first assesses whether, (i) it intends to sell or (ii) it is more likely 
than not that the Bank will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis. If either case is 
affirmative, the security’s amortized cost is written down to fair value through income. If neither case is affirmative, the 
security is evaluated to determine whether the decline in fair value has resulted from credit losses or other factors.  

In making this assessment, management considers the extent to which the fair value is less than amortizing cost, any changes 
to the rating of the security by a rating agency and any adverse conditions specifically related to the security, among other 
factors. If this assessment indicates a credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows expected to be collected from the 
security are compared to the amortized cost basis of the security. Adjustments to the allowance are reported on the 
accompanying income statement as a component of provisions for credit losses. AFS securities are charged off against the 
allowance or written down through income when deemed uncollectible by management or when either of the 
aforementioned criteria regarding intent or required to sell is met.  

Loan Modifications for Borrowers Experiencing Financial Difficulty 

The allowance for credit losses incorporates an estimate of lifetime expected credit losses and is recorded on each asset 
upon asset origination or acquisition. The starting point for the estimate of the allowance for credit losses is historical loss 
information, which includes losses from modifications of loans receivable to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty. 
An assessment of whether a borrower is experiencing financial difficulty is made on the date of a modification. Because the 
effect of most modifications made to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty is already included in the allowance for 
credit losses because of the measurement methodologies used to estimate the allowance, a change to the allowance for credit 
losses is generally not recorded upon modification. Occasionally, the Company modifies loans by providing principal 
forgiveness on certain of its real estate loans. When principal forgiveness is provided, the amortized cost basis of the asset 
is written off against the allowance for credit losses. The amount of the principal forgiveness is deemed to be uncollectible; 
therefore, that portion of the loan is written off, resulting in a reduction of the amortized cost basis and a corresponding 
adjustment to the allowance for credit losses. In some cases, the Company will modify a certain loan by providing multiple 
types of concessions.  
 
In some cases, the Company will modify a certain loan by providing multiple types of concessions. Typically, one type of 
concession, such as a term extension, is granted initially. If the borrower continues to experience financial difficulty, another 
concession, such as principal forgiveness, may be granted. Nonaccrual loans that are restructured remain on nonaccrual 
status, but may move to accrual status after they have performed according to the restructured terms for a period of time of 
at least six months.  
 
Land, Premises and Equipment 

Land is stated at cost.  Premises and equipment are recorded at cost and are generally depreciated by the straight-line method 
over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Buildings are generally depreciated over a useful life of thirty-nine and one 
half years, furniture and equipment over a useful life of three to seven years, and leasehold improvements over the lesser of 
the asset’s useful life or the term of the lease.  

Leases 

Management determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception.  Right-of-use assets represent the Company’s right to use 
an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent an obligation to make lease payments arising from the 
lease.  Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease  
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
Leases (Continued) 

payments over the lease term.  The lease may include renewal and termination options, which are included in the lease term 
when the Company is reasonably certain to exercise these options.   

For all underlying classes of assets, management has elected to not recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for 
short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less at lease commencement and do not include an option to purchase 
the underlying asset that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise.  The Company recognizes fixed short-term lease 
cost on a straight-line basis over the lease term and variable lease cost, which could consist of maintenance, taxes, and 
insurance, in the period in which the obligation is incurred. 

Management elects to use the risk-free rate as the discount rate if the implicit rate in the lease contract is not readily 
determinable.   

Management elects for all classes of underlying assets to not separate the lease and non-lease components of a contract and 
to account for such as a single lease component. 

In evaluating contracts to determine if they qualify as a lease, management considers factors such as if the Company obtained 
substantially all of the rights to the underlying asset through exclusivity if it can direct the use of the asset by making 
decisions about how and for what purpose the asset will be used and if the lessor has substantive substitution rights.  This 
evaluation may require significant judgement.   

Bank Owned Life Insurance 

Bank owned life insurance (BOLI) was purchased by the Bank as a financing tool for employee benefits and to fund 
discretionary retirement benefits for the Board of Directors and executive management.  The value of life insurance 
financing is the tax preferred status of increases in life insurance cash values and death benefits and the cash flow generated 
at the death of the insured.  The proceeds or increases in cash surrender value of the life insurance policy results in tax-
exempt income to the Company.  The largest risk to the BOLI program is credit risk of the insurance carriers.  To mitigate 
this risk, annual financial condition reviews are completed on all carriers.  BOLI is stated on the Company’s consolidated 
balance sheets at its current cash surrender value. Increases in BOLI’s cash surrender value are reported as noninterest 
income in the Company’s consolidated statements of income. 

Foreclosed Real Estate 

Included in accrued interest receivable and other assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are real estate 
properties acquired through, or in lieu of, loan foreclosure.  These properties are initially recorded at fair value less estimated 
selling costs at the date of foreclosure establishing a new cash basis.  Any write-downs based on the asset's fair value at date 
of foreclosure are charged to the allowance for credit losses.  After foreclosure, property held for sale is carried at the lower 
of the new basis or fair value less any costs to sell. Costs of significant property improvements are capitalized, whereas 
costs relating to holding property are expensed.  Valuations are periodically performed by management, and any subsequent 
write-downs are recorded as a charge to operations, if necessary, to reduce the carrying value of the property to the lower 
of its cost or fair value less cost to sell. The recorded investment in residential real estate in process of foreclosure at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $2.5 million and $1.1 million respectively. There was $162,000 in foreclosed real estate 
at December 31, 2024 and none in 2023. 
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
Mortgage Servicing Rights  

When mortgage loans are sold with servicing retained, servicing rights are initially recorded at fair value with the income 
statement effect recorded in gains on sales of loans. Fair value is based on market prices for comparable mortgage servicing 
contracts, when available or alternatively, is based on a valuation model that calculates the present value of estimated future 
net servicing income. All classes of servicing assets are subsequently measured using the amortization method which 
requires servicing rights to be amortized into noninterest income in proportion to, and over the period of, the estimated 
future net servicing income of the underlying costs. 

Servicing rights are evaluated for impairment based on the fair value of the rights as compared to carrying amount. 
Impairment is determined by stratifying rights into groupings based on predominant risk characteristics, such as interest 
rate, loan type and investor type. Impairment is recognized through a valuation allowance for an individual grouping, to the 
extent that fair value is less than the carrying amount. If the Company later determines that all or a portion of the impairment 
no longer exists for a particular grouping, a reduction of the allowance may be recorded as an increases to income. The fair 
value of servicing rights are subject to significant fluctuations as a result of changes in estimated and actual prepayment 
speeds and default rates and losses. 

Servicing fee income, which is reported on the consolidated statements of income as loan servicing fees, is recorded for fees 
earned for servicing loans. The fees are based on a contractual percentage of the outstanding principal; or a fixed amount 
per loan and are recorded as income when earned. The amortization of mortgage servicing rights is netted against loan 
servicing fee income. Servicing fees totaled $2.5 million and $2.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
Late fees and ancillary fees related to loan servicing are not material. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the 
Company did not recognize any impairment on mortgage servicing rights.  

Treasury Stock 

Treasury stock is recorded at cost. Shares are reissued on the average cost method, except for issuance of deferred 
compensation shares, which are discussed in Note 9. 

Advertising Costs 

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.  

Noncontrolling Interest  
 
Noncontrolling interest represents the portion of ownership and interest expense that is attributable to the minority owners 
of LRAC.  The minority ownership is in the form of 8.50% cumulative preferred stock, and the dividends paid are included 
in noncontrolling interest as a charge against income. 
 
Income Taxes  

Income taxes are provided for the tax effects of certain transactions reported in the consolidated financial statements.  
Income taxes consist of taxes currently due plus deferred taxes related primarily to temporary differences between the 
financial reporting and income tax basis of available for sale securities, the allowance for credit losses, premises and 
equipment, and prepaid and accrued employee benefits. The deferred tax assets and liabilities represent the future tax return 
consequences of the temporary differences, which will either be taxable or deductible when the assets and liabilities are 
recovered or settled.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflected at income tax rates applicable to the period in which 
the deferred tax assets and liabilities are expected to be realized or settled. As changes in tax laws or rates are enacted,  
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
Income Taxes (Continued)  

deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted through the provision for income taxes. The Company recognizes interest and 
penalties accrued on any unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense.  
 
Generally, income tax returns are subject to possible audit by taxing authorities for up to three year. 
 
Transfers of Financial Assets 

Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales when control over the assets has been surrendered.  Control over 
transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when (1) the assets have been isolated from the Company, (2) the transferee 
obtains the right (free of conditions that constrain it from taking advantage of that right) to pledge or exchange the transferred 
assets, and (3) the Company does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets through an agreement to 
repurchase them before their maturity. 

Earnings per Share 

Basic earnings per share represents income available to common shareholders divided by the weighted-average number of 
common shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted earnings per share reflects additional common shares that would 
have been outstanding if dilutive potential common shares had been issued. Treasury shares are not deemed outstanding for 
earnings per share calculations.  See Note 11 for earnings per share calculations. 

Comprehensive Income 

GAAP requires recognized revenue, expenses, gains and losses be included in net income. Although certain changes in 
assets and liabilities are reported as a separate component of the equity section of the consolidated balance sheets, such 
items, along with net income, are components of comprehensive income. Other comprehensive income includes unrealized 
gains and losses on securities available for sale, changes in the funded status of the pension plan and health care plan. 

Statements of Cash Flows 

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are defined as the 
sum of cash and due from Banks and federal funds sold. 

Off-Balance-Sheet Financial Instruments 

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank has entered into off-balance-sheet financial instruments consisting of 
commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit.  Such financial instruments are recorded in the consolidated 
financial statements when they are funded or related fees are incurred or received. See Note 13 for summary of commitments 
and standby letters of credit. 

Segment Reporting 

The Company’s reportable segments are determined by the Chief Executive Officer, who is designated as the chief operating 
decision maker (“CODM”), based on information provided about the Company’s products and services offered.  The 
Company’s operations are primarily in the community banking industry and includes retail and commercial banking 
services.  A segment is also distinguished by the level of information provided to the CODM, who uses information to 
review performance of various components of the business.  The CODM will evaluate the financial performance of the 
Company’s business components such as by evaluating revenue streams, significant expenses, and budget to actual results 
in assessing the Company’s segments and in the determination of allocating resources.  The CODM uses consolidated net  
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
Segment Reporting (Continued)  

income to benchmark the Company against its competitors.  The benchmarking analysis along with monitoring budget to 
actual results are used in assessing performance.  The financial information used for performance assessment by the CODM 
is the same as the financial information included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and consolidated 
statements of income. 
 
Note 2 - Investments 

The amortized cost and fair value of investment securities, with gross unrealized gains and losses, are as follows at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
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Note 2 – Investments (Continued) 

 

 

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

(In Thousands) Cost Gains Losses Value

December 31, 2024:
Available for Sale:

United State Agencies 157,046$      12$             (23,314)$    133,744$      
State and local governments 70,602          -                  (7,052)        63,550
Corporate 17,800          -                  (1,520)        16,280
Mortgage-backed securities 83,701          -                  (14,759)      68,942

Total Available for Sale 329,149$      12$             (46,645)$    282,516$      

Held to Maturity:
United State Agencies 20,360$        $               - (1,619)$      18,741$        
State and local governments 4,703            1                 -                 4,704
Mortgage-backed securities 9,343            -                  (1,077)        8,266            

Total Held to Maturity 34,406$        1$               (2,696)$      31,711$        

Restricted Securities: 9,416$          -$            $               - 9,416$          

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

(In Thousands) Cost Gains Losses Value

December 31, 2023:
Available for Sale:

United State Agencies 156,817$        13$              (25,298)$      131,532$        
State and local governments 85,658           20                (6,874)         78,804            
Corporate 17,799           -                  (2,292)         15,507            
Mortgage-backed securities 89,283           -                  (15,206)        74,077            

Total Available for Sale 349,557$        33$              (49,670)$      299,920$        

Held to Maturity:
United State Agencies 20,257$          $               - (2,064)$        18,193$          
State and local governments 10,627           -                  -                 10,627            
Mortgage-backed securities 9,387             -                  (1,353)         8,035              

Total Held to Maturity 40,271$          $               - (3,417)$        36,855$          

Restricted Securities: 7,305$           $               - $               - 7,305$            
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Note 2 – Investments (Continued) 

 
The Company’s current policies generally limit securities investments to U.S. Government and securities of government 
sponsored enterprises, federal funds sold, municipal bonds, corporate debt obligations including subordinated debt of Banks 
and certain mutual funds. In addition, the Company’s policies permit investments in mortgage-backed securities, including 
securities issued and guaranteed by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA), 
and collateralized mortgage obligations issued by these entities. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, all mortgage-backed 
securities including collateralized mortgage obligations were securities of government sponsored enterprises, no private-
label mortgage-backed securities or collateralized mortgage obligations were in the securities portfolio. The Company’s 
investments in state and political subdivisions securities generally are municipal obligations that are general obligations 
supported by the general taxing authority of the issuer, and in some cases are insured. The obligations issued by school 
districts are primarily supported by state aid. Primarily, these investments are issued by municipalities within New York 
State. 
 
Restricted equity securities primarily include non-marketable Federal Home Loan Bank New York (FHLBNY) stock and 
non-marketable Federal Reserve Bank (FRB) stock, both of which are required to be held for regulatory purposes and for 
borrowing availability. The required investment in FHLBNY stock is tied to both the Company’s borrowing levels with the 
FHLB and commitments to sell residential mortgage loans to the FHLB. Holdings of FHLBNY stock and FRB stock totaled 
$7.3 million and $1.4 million at December 31, 2024, respectively, and $5.3 million and $1.4 million at December 31, 2023, 
respectively. These securities are carried at par, which is also cost. The Company has an investment in Federal Agricultural 
Mortgage Corp (Farmer Mac) class A stock totaling $378,000 and $343,000 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, 
in order to participate in certain lending activities with Farmer Mac. The stock is actively traded on the NYSE,  
pays a dividend, and is reflective of current market value.  Restricted equity securities also include miscellaneous 
investments carried at par, which is also cost. 
 
Restricted equity securities are held as a long-term investment and value is determined based on the ultimate recoverability 
of the par value.  Impairment of these investments is evaluated quarterly and is a matter of judgment that reflects 
management’s view of the issuer’s long-term performance, which includes factors such as the following: its operating 
performance; the severity and duration of declines in the fair value of its net assets related to its capital stock amount; its 
commitment to make payments required by law or regulation and the level of such payments in relation to its operating 
performance; and its liquidity and funding position. After evaluating these considerations, the Company concluded that the 
par value of these investments will be recovered and, as such, has not recognized any impairment on its holdings of restricted 
equity securities during the current year.  
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Note 2 – Investments (Continued) 
 
The following table sets forth the Company’s investment in securities with unrealized losses of less than twelve months and 
unrealized losses of twelve months or more at December 31:  

 

 

On a quarterly basis, the Company performs an assessment to determine whether there have been any events or economic 
circumstances indicating that a security with an unrealized loss has suffered a credit loss impairment.  Consideration is 
given to (1) the length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than the amortized cost basis, (2) the 
financial condition of the issuer (and guarantor, if any) and adverse conditions specifically related to the security, industry 
or geographic area, (3) failure of the issuer of the security to make scheduled interest or principal payments, (4) any changes 
to the rating of a security by a rating agency, (5) the presence of credit enhancements, if any, including the guarantee of the 
federal government or any of its agencies, (6) whether the Company intends to sell or more likely than not be required to 
sell the debt security, and (7) if the present value of the expected cash flow is not sufficient to recover the entire amortized 
cost. 

There were 23 securities with unrealized losses at December 31, 2024, with a fair value of $5.2 million that were less than 
12 months. There were 457 securities with unrealized losses at December 31, 2024, with a fair value of $272.1 million that 
were 12 months or longer. There were 14 securities with unrealized losses at December 31, 2023, with a fair value of $2.4 
million that were less than 12 months. There were 496 securities with unrealized losses at December 31, 2023, with a fair  

 

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized 
(In thousands) Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
2024
Available for Sale:

United States agencies -$                -$           131,732$    (23,314)$  131,732$    (23,314)$  
State and Local Governments 3,069          (51)         60,481        (7,001)      63,550        (7,052)      
Corporate -                  -             16,280        (1,520)      16,280        (1,520)      
Mortgage-backed
securities 2,216          (18)         66,726        (14,741)    68,942        (14,759)    

5,285$        (69)$       275,219$    (46,576)$  280,504$    (46,645)$  

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized 
(In thousands) Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
2023

Available for Sale:
United States agencies -$                -$           129,519$      (25,298)$    129,519$      (25,298)$    
State and Local Governments 2,006           (16)         73,462         (6,858)        75,468         (6,874)        
Corporate 414              (87)         12,094         (2,205)        12,508         (2,292)        
Mortgage-backed
securities -                  -             74,077         (15,206)      74,077         (15,206)      

2,420$          (103)$      289,152$      (49,567)$    291,572$      (49,670)$    

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total
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Note 2 – Investments (Continued) 

value of $289.2 million that were 12 months or longer. Substantially all of the unrealized losses on the Company's securities 
were caused by market interest rate changes from those in effect when the securities were purchased by the Company. The 
contractual terms of these securities do not permit the issuer to settle the securities at a price less than par value. Except for 
certain state and local government obligations, all securities rated by an independent rating agency carry an investment 
grade rating. Financial information relating to unrated state and government obligations is reviewed for indications of 
adverse conditions that may indicate credit loss impairment. The Company did not consider these investment securities to 
have a credit loss impairment at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

 
The amortized cost and fair value of debt securities at December 31, 2024, by contractual maturity, are shown below.  
Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay 
obligations without call or prepayment penalties. 

 

 

During 2024, there were nine sales of available for sale securities, and in 2023, there was one sale of available for sale 
securities. Realized loss on the sale of the securities in 2024 was $71,000 and in 2023 was $32,000. Investment securities 
with carrying amounts of $228.7 million and $290.6 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, were pledged to 
secure deposits as required or permitted by law.  

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no holdings of securities of any one issuer, other than the U.S. Government 
and its agencies, in an amount greater than 10% of shareholders’ equity.  

The allowance for credit loss on held to maturity investments at December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $23,000 and $28,000, 
respectively. 

 

 

 

(In thousands) Available for Sale Held to Maturity
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair

Cost Value Cost Value

Due in one year or less 9,141$      9,000$      2,326$      2,303$      
Due after one year through five years 118,309    107,002    19,041      17,802      
Due after five years through ten years 90,963      74,708      3,647        3,290        
Due after ten years 9,235        6,586        48             48             
Securities not due at a single maturity date 101,501    85,220      9,344        8,268        

329,149$  282,516$  34,406$    31,711$    
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Note 3 – Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses  

 

 
Net unamortized loan origination costs totaled $1.4 million at December 31, 2024 and $1.1 million at December 31, 2023, 
respectively and are included with their related loan class. 
 
Accrued interest receivable totaled $7.0 million at December 31, 2024 and $6.7 million at December 31, 2023. 
 
The Company has transferred a portion of its originated commercial, commercial real estate, agriculture and agriculture real 
estate loans to participating lenders. The amounts transferred have been accounted for as sales and are therefore not included 
in the Company’s accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The Company and participating lenders share ratably in cash 
flows and any gains or losses that may result from a borrower’s lack of compliance with contractual terms of the loan. The 
Company continues to service the loans on behalf of the participating lenders and, as such, collects cash payments from the 
borrowers, remits payments (net of servicing fees) to participating lenders and disburses required escrow funds to relevant 
parties. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company was servicing loans for participants aggregating $9.8 million and $11.4 
million, respectively. 
 
 

 

Loans consisted of the following at December 31:

Total mortgage loans on real estate

Total consumer installment loans

Total loans

Allowance for credit losses/loan losses

Loans, net

(20,875) (19,493)

$1,447,496 $1,359,117 

1,468,371 

1,142,714

159,030
42,177

            Indirect 2,958
29,383

Direct 26,425

Agriculture loans 45,459
Consumer installment loans:

Commercial loans 176,149

Agriculture 98,766
1,217,380

Home equity 145,514
Commercial 411,863

1-4 family $561,237 

2024
Real estate:

Residential:
(In thousands)

2023

$544,051 

93,057

134,047
371,559

1,378,610 

30,871
3,818

34,689
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Note 3 – Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses – (Continued) 

 
The following table presents past due status by classes of the loan portfolio at December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(In thousands)
Current

30-89 
Days 

Past Due

90 Days 
and 

Greater Total Loans
Loans on 

Nonaccrual

2024:

Commercial loans $174,395 $1,188 $566 $176,149 $1,323 
Commercial real estate 410,019 870 974 411,863 974
Agriculture loans 44,891 20 548 45,459 634
Agriculture real estate 98,467 - 299 98,766 364
Residential real estate:

          1-4 family 557,827 3,354 56 561,237 186
          Home equity 144,845 652 17 145,514 95

Consumer installment 
loans:

          Direct 26,405 20 - 26,425 -
          Indirect 2,902 56 - 2,958  - 

                 Total $1,459,751 $6,160 $2,460 $1,468,371 $3,576 
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Note 3 – Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses – (Continued) 
 

 
 
At December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no loans over 90 days’ delinquent and still accruing interest.  
 
Activity in the allowance for credit losses for the year ended December 31, 2024 is as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(In thousands)
Current

30-89 
Days 

Past Due

90 Days 
and 

Greater Total Loans
Loans on 

Nonaccrual

2023:

Commercial loans $157,383 $573 $1,074 $159,030 $1,420 
Commercial real estate 370,365 512 682 371,559 746
Agriculture loans 41,681 - 496 42,177 496
Agriculture real estate 92,753 - 304 93,057 390
Residential real estate:

          1-4 family 541,658 2,067 326 544,051 326
          Home equity 133,583 358 106 134,047 106

Consumer installment 
loans:

          Direct 30,849 22 - 30,871 -
          Indirect 3,798 20 - 3,818 14

                 Total $1,372,070 $3,552 $2,988 $1,378,610 $3,498 

2024 Commercial
Commercial 
Real Estate Agriculture

Agriculture 
Real Estate

Residential 
Real Estate Consumer Total

Allowance for credit losses:
Beginning balance $2,711 $5,690 $454 $315 $9,849 $474 $19,493
Provision for credit losses 445 516 (46) (32) 851 85 1,819
Recoveries of loans 
previously charged off

21 38 - - 14 53 126

Loans charged off (212) (30) - - (110) (211) (563)
Ending balance $2,965 $6,214 $408 $283 $10,604 $401 $20,875
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Note 3 – Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses (Continued) 
 

 
 
Non-accrual loans, segregated by class of loan, were as follows at December 31, 2024: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Activity in the allowance for credit losses for the year ended December 31, 2023 is as follows:
(In thousands)

2023 Commercial
Commercial 
Real Estate Agriculture

Agriculture 
Real Estate

Residential 
Real Estate Consumer Total

Allowance for credit losses:
Beginning balance, prior to 
adoption of ASC 326

$4,532 $6,847 $1,191 $1,464 $6,896 $568 $21,498

Impact of adopting ASC 326 (574) (867) (151) (185) (873) (75) (2,725)
Provision for credit losses (1,047) (323) (595) (964) 3,856 93 1,020
Recoveries of loans 
previously charged off

61 33 9 - 3 74 180

Loans charged off (261) - - - (33) (186) (480)
Ending balance $2,711 $5,690 $454 $315 $9,849 $474 $19,493

2024:

(In thousands) Non-Accrual Loans
Non-Accrual Loans with 
No Allowance for Credit 

Loss 

Interest Income 
Recognized on Non-

Accrual Loans

Residential mortgage loans:
1 - 4 family first-lien residential 
mortgages  $                       186  $                            186  - 

                          186                                186 -
Commercial loans:

Commercial real estate                           974                                974  - 
Commercial                        1,323                             1,067  - 
Agriculture real estate                           364                                364  - 
Agriculture                            634                                634  - 

                       3,295                             3,039  - 
Consumer loans:

Home equity lines of credit                             95                                  95  - 

                            95                                  95  - 

Total non-accrual loans  $                     3,576  $                          3,320  $                                - 
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Note 3 – Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses (Continued) 
 

 

Management is committed to early recognition of loan problems and to maintaining an adequate allowance. At least 
quarterly, management reviews all commercial and commercial real estate loans and leases and agriculturally related loans 
with an outstanding principal balance of over $250,000 that are internally risk rated substandard or worse, giving 
consideration to payment history, debt service payment capacity, collateral support, strength of guarantors, local market 
trends, industry trends, and other factors relevant to the particular borrowing relationship. Through this process, 
management identifies individually analyzed loans. For individually analyzed loans, estimated exposure amounts are based 
upon collateral values or present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate of each 
loan.  For commercial loans, commercial mortgage loans, agricultural mortgages and agricultural loans not specifically 
reviewed, and for homogenous loan portfolios such as residential mortgage loans and consumer loans, estimated exposure 
amounts are assigned based upon historical net loss experience and current charge-off trends, past due status, and 
management’s judgment of the effects of current economic conditions on portfolio performance. In determining and 
assigning historical loss factors to the various homogeneous portfolios, the Company calculates average net losses over a 
period of time and compares this average to current levels and trends to ensure that the calculated average loss factor is 
reasonable. 

 

2023:

(In thousands) Non-Accrual Loans
Non-Accrual Loans with 
No Allowance for Credit 

Loss 

Interest Income 
Recognized on Non-

Accrual Loans

Residential mortgage loans:
1 - 4 family first-lien residential 
mortgages  $                       326  $                            326  - 

Construction                           326                                326 -

Commercial loans:
Commercial real estate                           746                                746  - 
Commercial and industrial                        1,420                             1,208  - 
Agriculture real estate                           390                                390  - 
Agriculture                            496                                430  - 

                       3,052                             2,774  - 
Consumer loans:

Home equity lines of credit                           106                                106  - 
Other consumer                             14                                  14  - 

                          120                                120  - 

Total non-accrual loans  $                     3,498  $                          3,220  $                                - 



Lyons Bancorp, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 
 
 
 

30 

Note 3 – Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses (Continued) 

Significant factors that could give rise to changes in these estimates may include, but are not limited to, changes in economic 
conditions in the local area, concentration of risk, changes in interest rates, and declines in local property values. While 
management uses available information to recognize losses on loans, future additions to the allowance may be necessary. 
In addition, various regulatory agencies, as an integral part of their examination process, periodically review the Company’s 
allowance for loan losses. Such agencies may require the Company to recognize additions to the allowance based on their 
judgments about information available to them at the time of their examination. 
 
The allocation of the allowance to each category does not restrict the use of the allowance to absorb losses in any category.  

            
A loan is considered collateral-dependent when the loan is individually analyzed and repayment of the loan is expected to 
be provided substantially through the operation or sale of the collateral. Loans considered collateral-dependent, and their 
related collateral type, are as follows at December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

$ 30

Agriculture 423

$ 1,766     Total
Commercial 737

   Commercial 576

 Business assets

     Total real estate 606
Commercial real estate property

 Business assets

   Agriculture Agriculture real estate property

December 31, 2024 Amortized cost Collateral type
(in thousands)
Real estate:

$ 31

Agriculture 497

$ 1,788     Total
Commercial 691

   Commercial 569

 Business assets

     Total real estate 600
Commercial real estate property

 Business assets

   Agriculture  Agriculture real estate property

December 31, 2023 Amortized cost Collateral type
(in thousands)
Real estate:
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Note 3 – Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses (Continued) 
 
As of December 31, 2024, the Company has a recorded investment in modified loans with borrowers experiencing financial 
difficulty of $4.4 million. As of December 31, 2023, the Company has a recorded investment in modified loans with 
borrowers experiencing financial difficulty of $5.3 million. The Company has allocated $256,000 and $279,000 of specific 
allowance for those loans at December 31, 2024 and 2023 respectively. 

There was one modification of loans with borrowers experiencing financial difficulty during the year ended December 31, 
2024. The payment status of the modified loan is current at December 31, 2024. There were no loan modifications with 
borrowers experiencing financial difficulty during the year ended December 31, 2023. 

A loan is considered to be in payment default once it is 15 days contractually past due under the modified terms. 
 
The following table presents the amortized cost basis of the loan at December 31, 2024 that was both experiencing financial 
difficulty and modified during the year ended December 31, 2024. The percentage of amortized cost basis of the loan that was 
modified as compared to the amortized cost basis of the class of financing receivable is also presented below. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(In thousands)
Principal 

Forgiveness
Payment 

Delay
Term 

Extension

Interest 
Rate 

Reduction

Combination 
Term 

Extension 
and Principal 
Forgiveness

Combination 
Term 

Extension 
and Interest 

Rate 
Reduction

Total Class 
of Financing 
Receivable

2024:

Commercial loans $0 $0 $68 $0 $0 $0 0.04%
Commercial real estate  - - - - - - -
Agriculture loans  - - - - - - -
Agriculture real estate  - - - - - - -
Residential real estate:

          1-4 family  - - - - - - -
          Home equity  - - - - - - -

Consumer installment 
loans:

          Direct  - - - - - - -
          Indirect - - - - - - -

                 Total $0 $0 $68 $0 $0 $0 0.04%
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Note 3 – Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses (Continued) 
 
Credit Quality 
 
The Company utilizes a ten grade internal loan rating system for commercial, commercial real estate, agriculture and 
agriculture real estate loans.  Loans that are rated “1” through “6” are considered “pass” rated loans with low to average 
risk.   
 
Loans rated a “7” are considered “special mention”.  These loans have potential weaknesses that deserve management’s 
close attention.  These weaknesses may, if not checked or corrected, weaken the asset or inadequately protect the Company’s 
position at some future date.   Borrowers may be experiencing adverse operating trends, or an ill-proportioned balance sheet.   
Adverse economic or market conditions may also support a special mention rating.  These assets pose elevated risks, but 
their weakness does not yet justify a substandard classification.  
 
Loans rated an “8” are considered “substandard”.  Generally, a loan is considered substandard if it is inadequately protected 
by the current net worth and paying capacity of the obligors and/or the collateral pledged.  Substandard loans have a high 
probability of payment default or they have other well-defined weaknesses. They require more intensive supervision by 
management.  Substandard loans are generally characterized by current or unexpected unprofitable operations, inadequate 
debt service coverage, inadequate liquidity, or marginal capitalization. 
 
Loans rated a “9” are considered “doubtful”. Loans classified as doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified 
as substandard with the added characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of 
currently existing facts, highly questionable and improbable.  There were no doubtful loans at December 31, 2024 or 2023. 
 
Loans rated a “10” are considered uncollectible (“loss”) and of such little value that their continuance as loans is not 
warranted.  This classification does not mean that the loan has absolutely no recovery or salvage value, but rather that it is  
not practical or desirable to defer writing off this basically worthless loan even though partial recovery may be affected in 
the future.  There were no loss loans at December 31, 2024 or 2023. 
 
On an annual basis, or more often if needed, the Company formally reviews the ratings on all commercial, commercial real 
estate, agriculture and agriculture real estate loans.  The Company also annually engages an independent third party to 
review a significant portion of loans within these classes.  Management uses the results of these reviews as part of its annual 
review process. 
 
The following tables present the loans to customers as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, based on year of origination within 
each credit quality indicator: 
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Note 3 – Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses (Continued) 
 
(In thousands) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 Prior

Revolving 
Loans 

Amortized 
Cost Basis

Revolving Loans 
Converted to Term 

Loans Amortized Cost 
Basis

Total

Total Loans:
Residential Mortgage Loans:
  Pass $ 51,712 42,136 96,966 121,135 103,791 75,925 22,299 - 513,964

3 Good - - - - - 57 - - 57
4 Average - - - - - 628 - - 628
5 Acceptable 6,823 2,881 8,315 14,621 6,523 8,154 690 - 48,007
6 Management Attention Watch - - - - - 57 - - 57
8 Substandard - - 131 190 - - 56 - 377

$ 58,535 45,017 105,412 135,946 110,314 84,821 23,045 - 563,090
Current period gross charge-offs $ - - - - - - 110 - 110

Home Equity Loans:
  Pass $ 10,032 8,229 13,279 5,628 5,840 17,981 81,821 - 142,810

8 Substandard - - - - 17 - 78 - 95
$ 10,032 8,229 13,279 5,628 5,857 17,981 81,899 - 142,905

Current period gross charge-offs $ - - - - - - - - -

Commercial Real Estate Loans:
2 Strong $ - - 469 887 627 774 - - 2,757
3 Good 1,401 639 3,193 1,529 529 1,184 - - 8,475
4 Average 10,228 8,560 19,697 6,743 7,038 21,760 4,142 12,852 91,020
5 Acceptable 46,569 29,829 30,149 38,328 19,418 38,564 18,333 30,135 251,325
6 Management Attention Watch 1,098 2,195 12,027 3,420 3,392 10,204 4,901 6,985 44,222
7 Special Mention 122 172 1,063 343 2,831 851 1,017 424 6,823
8 Substandard - - 319 3,182 - 1,655 - 1,946 7,102

$ 59,418 41,395 66,917 54,432 33,835 74,992 28,393 52,342 411,724
Current period gross charge-offs $ - - 30 - - - - - 30

Agriculture Real Estate Loans:
2 Strong $ 869 918 406 - 931 6,620 - 92 9,836
3 Good 488 733 1,232 - 621 2,631 - 1,725 7,430
4 Average 1,349 2,761 3,610 2,412 3,013 8,876 - 3,124 25,145
5 Acceptable 8,154 5,491 12,822 4,454 2,674 10,115 1,710 3,459 48,879
6 Management Attention Watch 2,744 966 170 292 230 2,066 - - 6,468
7 Special Mention - - 13 - - 780 - - 793
8 Substandard - - - - - 95 - - 95

$ 13,604 10,869 18,253 7,158 7,469 31,183 1,710 8,400 98,646
Current period gross charge-offs $ - - - - - - - - -

At December 31, 2024
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Note 3 – Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses (Continued) 
 
(In thousands) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 Prior

Revolving 
Loans 

Amortized 
Cost Basis

Revolving Loans 
Converted to Term 

Loans Amortized Cost 
Basis

Total

Commercial Loans:
  Performing $ - - - - - - 1,627 - 1,627

1 Superior - 368 1,313 - - - 139 - 1,820
2 Strong 793 491 525 144 - 1,339 53 - 3,345
3 Good 870 3,577 1,094 1,486 181 467 2,767 - 10,442
4 Average 10,266 3,037 2,096 1,410 483 399 16,572 1,125 35,388
5 Acceptable 15,051 4,538 9,168 5,052 4,961 2,169 39,139 9,942 90,020
6 Management Attention Watch 687 9,696 1,089 1,123 247 1,576 10,505 3,859 28,782
7 Special Mention 141 140 233 1 56 394 1,594 1,114 3,673
8 Substandard - 12 241 - 19 94 1,494 493 2,353

$ 27,808 21,859 15,759 9,216 5,947 6,438 73,890 16,533 177,450
Current period gross charge-offs $ - - - 14 - - 198 - 212

Agriculture Loans:
1 Superior $ - - - - - - - - -
2 Strong - - 134 - 91 211 860 - 1,296
3 Good 394 21 759 330 773 221 2,653 - 5,151
4 Average 1,328 805 1,111 562 258 516 7,874 502 12,956
5 Acceptable 2,670 1,607 1,257 616 416 408 12,425 351 19,750
6 Management Attention Watch 643 186 270 26 - 15 3,682 - 4,822
7 Special Mention 130 116 - - - 122 397 16 781
8 Substandard - - - - - 423 211 - 634

$ 5,165 2,735 3,531 1,534 1,538 1,916 28,102 869 45,388
Current period gross charge-offs $ - - - - - - - - -

Consumer Direct Loans:
  Pass $ 5,519 4,783 6,354 2,840 709 617 3,907 - 24,729
Current period gross charge-offs $ - 26 8 6 - - 65 - 105

Consumer Indirect Loans:
  Pass $ 216 104 97 240 370 1,929 - - 2,958

8 Substandard - - - - - - - - -
$ 216 104 97 240 370 1,929 - - 2,958

Current period gross charge-offs $ - - - - 12 12 - - 24

At December 31, 2024
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Note 3 – Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses (Continued) 
 
(In thousands) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 Prior

Revolving 
Loans 

Amortized 
Cost Basis

Revolving Loans 
Converted to Term 

Loans Amortized 
Cost Basis

Total

Total Loans:
Residential Mortgage Loans:
  Pass $ 55,114 101,685 126,856 113,474 21,510 61,931 18,887 - 499,457

3 Good - - - - - 62 - - 62
4 Average - - - - - 800 - - 800
5 Acceptable 3,098 9,038 15,648 7,109 2,940 6,671 782 - 45,284
6 Management Attention Watch - - - - - 61 - - 61
8 Substandard - 173 195 129 - 24 - - 520

$ 58,212 110,895 142,698 120,712 24,449 69,549 19,668 - 546,184
Current period gross charge-offs $ - - - - - - - - -

Home Equity Loans:
  Pass $ 8,649 14,920 6,411 7,124 3,947 17,413 72,895 - 131,359

8 Substandard - - - - - 9 97 - 106
$ 8,649 14,920 6,411 7,124 3,947 17,422 72,992 - 131,465

Current period gross charge-offs $ - - - - - 33 - - 33

Commercial Real Estate Loans:
2 Strong $ 700 483 922 658 - 819 - 2,465 6,048
3 Good 3,787 1,296 1,600 553 254 406 - - 7,895
4 Average 5,181 19,503 7,632 10,340 9,365 22,466 3,432 5,378 83,296
5 Acceptable 33,269 38,665 41,590 18,288 7,563 32,847 19,763 31,234 223,220
6 Management Attention Watch 1,958 10,252 2,279 6,173 3,254 7,649 1,636 8,202 41,403
7 Special Mention - - - 171 310 1,324 - 440 2,245
8 Substandard - 351 3,447 - 113 1,359 - 2,029 7,300

$ 44,895 70,551 57,470 36,183 20,859 66,870 24,830 49,748 371,407
Current period gross charge-offs $ - - - - - - - - -

Agriculture Real Estate Loans:
2 Strong $ 933 420 - 964 - 8,279 - 98 10,695
3 Good 751 1,329 - 663 716 2,035 - 1,889 7,384
4 Average 2,833 2,876 2,831 3,227 3,150 7,149 - 3,268 25,334
5 Acceptable 5,513 14,067 4,595 3,124 3,803 8,271 1,469 2,783 43,624
6 Management Attention Watch 1,218 253 1,359 291 1,210 616 - - 4,947
7 Special Mention - 14 - - - 813 - - 827
8 Substandard - - - - - 116 - - 116

$ 11,249 18,960 8,785 8,268 8,879 27,280 1,469 8,038 92,928
Current period gross charge-offs $ - - - - - - - - -

At December 31, 2023
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Note 3 – Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses (Continued) 
 
(In thousands) 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 Prior

Revolving 
Loans 

Amortized 
Cost Basis

Revolving Loans 
Converted to Term 

Loans Amortized 
Cost Basis

Total

Commercial Loans:
  Performing $ - - - - - - 1,801 - 1,801

1 Superior 450 - - - - - 269 - 719
2 Strong 528 1,904 157 - - 1,420 2,538 - 6,548
3 Good 4,767 397 1,948 257 11 848 1,903 - 10,133
4 Average 2,950 3,430 2,613 457 543 295 11,335 2,074 23,695
5 Acceptable 15,807 13,020 6,772 7,258 1,364 1,690 35,819 7,179 88,908
6 Management Attention Watch 1,022 1,821 1,302 627 1,175 1,617 7,850 7,780 23,195
7 Special Mention 144 335 224 - - 1,137 2,615 26 4,481
8 Substandard - - - 27 76 - 778 164 1,045

$ 25,667 20,908 13,016 8,626 3,169 7,007 64,907 17,224 160,525
Current period gross charge-offs $ - 43 - - - - 198 20 261

Agriculture Loans:
1 Superior $ - - - - - - - - -
2 Strong - 177 - 133 - 349 375 - 1,035
3 Good 333 1,168 295 988 24 194 3,090 - 6,092
4 Average 1,045 1,449 1,028 660 498 408 6,872 557 12,517
5 Acceptable 2,067 1,689 1,284 672 429 289 11,096 318 17,844
6 Management Attention Watch 215 249 176 65 7 62 2,433 179 3,386
7 Special Mention 135 - - - 11 142 422 24 735
8 Substandard - - - - - 497 - - 497

$ 3,795 4,732 2,783 2,518 969 1,942 24,287 1,079 42,106
Current period gross charge-offs $ - - - - - - - - -

Consumer Direct Loans:
  Pass $ 7,733 9,798 5,278 1,575 477 567 3,595 - 29,024
Current period gross charge-offs $ 3 6 9 - 2 - 64 - 84

Consumer Indirect Loans:
  Pass $ 134 129 304 518 584 2,134 - - 3,804

8 Substandard - - - - - 14 - - 14
$ 134 129 304 518 584 2,148 - - 3,818

Current period gross charge-offs $ - - - 19 2 - - - 21

At December 31, 2023
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Note 4 - Land, Premises and Equipment 

Land, premises and equipment, net consist of the following at December 31, 2024 and 2023:  

 

 

Depreciation and amortization expense in 2024 and 2023 are included in occupancy in noninterest expense on the 
accompanying consolidated statements of income as follows:   

 

Prior to December 31, 2024, the Bank leased out office space under non-cancelable operating lease agreements. At 
December 31, 2024, the Bank no longer leased out office space. 

Rental income under the operating leases totaled $7,500 and $15,000 in 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2024 2023

Land 5,875$          5,875$          
Building 22,901 22,901
Furniture and equipment 10,659 10,416
Land Improvements 81 41
Leasehold improvements 3,055 3,055
Construction in progress 237              7                  

42,808 42,295
Less: Accumulated depreciation (18,775) (17,491)

24,033$        24,804$        

(In thousands)

2024 2023

Building 571$           571$            
Furniture and equipment 591 627
Leasehold improvements 118 118
Land improvements 4 2

1,284$        1,318$          

(In thousands)
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Note 5 - Deposits 

Certificates of deposit in denominations of $250,000 and over were $160.8 million and $140.5 million at December 31, 
2024 and 2023, respectively. 

At December 31, 2024, scheduled maturities of time deposits are as follows: 

Years Ending December 31,    (In thousands) 
       

2025       $             415,986  
2026                      107,253  
2027                          7,348  
2028                        14,522  
2029                             279  

       $             545,388  
 

Included within certificates of deposits at December 31, 2024 and 2023 were $136.7 million and $79.8 million, 
respectively, in brokered certificates of deposits. 

Note 6 – Borrowings 

FHLB Borrowings 

These borrowings consist of overnight advances with the Federal Home Loan Bank “FHLB”. At December 31, 2024 and 
2023, there were no overnight advances outstanding. The table below details additional information related to overnight 
advances for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

 

 

There were no advances outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

As a member of the FHLB, the Bank can use certain otherwise unencumbered mortgage-related assets to secure borrowings 
from the FHLB. At December 31, 2024, total unencumbered mortgage-related loans were $150.1 million. At December 31, 
2023, total unencumbered mortgage-related loans were $189.0 million.  Additional assets may also qualify as collateral for 
FHLB advances. 

 

2023 2022

Maximum outstanding balance during the year 6,000$             73,000$           
Average daily outstanding balance 49$                 22,040$           
Interest expense 2$                   568$                
Weighted average interest rate during the year 4.54% 2.60%
Weighted average interest rate at end of year 0.00% 0.00%

(Dollars in thousands)
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Note 6 – Borrowings (Continued) 

FRB Borrowings   

The Bank participated in the Bank Term Funding Program, authorized by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve 
System.  In order to participate, the Bank secured all borrowings with “Eligible Collateral”.  The Bank was allowed to 
borrow up to the par value.  The table below details the FRB Borrowings as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024: 

  

The Company, through the Bank, can use certain otherwise unencumbered collateral to secure borrowings at the Federal 
Reserve Bank.  At December 31, 2024, total unencumbered collateral in the form of home equity loans and other consumer 
loans was $166.2 million. At December 31, 2023, total otherwise unencumbered collateral in the form of home equity loans 
and other consumer loans was $157.7 million. 

The Company, through the Bank, had available unsecured line of credit agreements with correspondent Banks permitting 
borrowings to a maximum of $139.0 million at December 31, 2024 and $127.0 million at December 31, 2023. There were 
no outstanding advances against those lines at December 31, 2024 or 2023. 

From time to time, the Bank enters into interest rate swap contracts with counterparties for the purpose of limiting the 
interest rate risk related to variable rate funding costs for overnight advances used to fund long-term fixed rate assets, 
including loans made to certain of the Bank’s customers.  

Note 7 - Subordinated Debentures 

Junior Subordinated Debentures 

On August 23, 2004, the Company issued $5.155 million in junior subordinated debentures due August 23, 2034, to Trust 
II.  The Company owns all of the $155,000 in common equity of Trust II and the debentures are the sole asset of Trust II.  
Trust II issued $5.0 million of floating-rate trust capital securities in a non-public offering.  The floating-rate capital 
securities provide for quarterly distributions at a variable annual coupon rate, reset quarterly, based on three-month CME 
term SOFR plus 2.65%.  The coupon rate was 7.43% at December 31, 2024 and 8.29% at December 31, 2023.  The securities 
are callable by the Company subject to any required regulatory approval, at par. The SOFR rate is determined by the treasury 
repurchase market and the change is said to the biggest effect on the derivatives market.   

 

 

 

Original Date Advance Amount Rate

12/31/2023 71,000,000$      4.81%
11/12/2024 (71,000,000)$     

12/31/2024 -$                  
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Note 7 - Subordinated Debentures (Continued) 

The Company unconditionally guarantees the Trust II capital securities.  The terms of the junior subordinated debentures 
and the common equity of Trust II mirror the terms of the trust capital securities issued by Trust II.  The Company used the 
net proceeds from this offering to fund an additional $5.0 million capital investment in the Bank to fund its operations and 
future growth. The accounts of Trust II are not included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company. 

Subordinated Debenture Offering 

In October 28, 2020, the Company successfully completed the sale of approximately $16.0 million of subordinated 
promissory notes (the “Notes”) to accredited investors. The Notes are dated October 23, 2020, and mature on December 31, 
2027. The interest rate on the Notes is fixed at 4.25% for the first five years, increases to 4.75% in the sixth year and 
increases again to 5.25% in the seventh year. The Company retains the right to redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, any 
time on or after December 31, 2025. The Company used the proceeds from the sale of the Notes for general corporate 
purposes, and to provide capital to support organic growth of the Bank. The net proceeds of the sale, after deducting 
estimated offering expenses, were $15.7 million. 
 
The sale of the Notes was made in a private placement to accredited investors under the exemption from registration 
provided under Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 506. The Notes are not registered under the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended ("Securities Act"), and may not be offered or sold in the United States absent registration or an applicable 
exemption from registration requirements. 

For regulatory purposes, the subordinated promissory notes capital securities qualify as Tier I capital of the Company subject 
to a 25% of capital limitation under risk-based capital guidelines. The portion that exceeds the 25% of capital limitation 
qualifies as Tier II capital. At both December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, $15.8 million in subordinated promissory 
notes capital securities qualified as Tier I capital.  
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Note 8 - Income Taxes 

The provision for income taxes consists of the following for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

 

Income tax expense differed from the statutory federal income tax rate of 21.0% for the years ended December 31, 2024 
and 2023 as follows: 
 

 
 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes.  Components of the Company’s net 
deferred tax assets at December 31, 2024 and 2023 included in accrued interest receivable and other assets on the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets, are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

2024 2023

Current tax provision
Federal 4,135$          4,254$           
State 526 863

Total current tax provision 4,661 5,117

Deferred tax provision (benefit)
Federal (14) 86
State (21) (3)

Total deferred tax provision (benefit) (35) 83
4,626$          5,200$           

(In thousands)

2024 2023
Statutory federal tax rate 21.0% 21.0%
Increase (decrease) resulting from:

Tax-exempt interest income (1.2) (1.1)
Non-taxable earnings on bank-owned life insurance (0.5) (0.4)
Disallowed interest expense 0.3 0.2
State taxes 2.0 3.5
Other, net 1.4 (0.2)

Effective tax rate 23.0% 23.0%
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Note 8 - Income Taxes (Continued) 

 

Management believes it is more likely than not that all of the deferred tax assets will be realized and has not recorded any 
valuation allowance at December 31, 2024 or 2023.  The amount of the deferred tax assets considered realizable, however, 
could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income are reduced. 

Note 9 - Stockholders’ Equity 
 
Preferred Stock – The Company is authorized to issue 5,000 shares of preferred stock having a par value of $0.50 per share 
and a stated value of $1,000 per share.  The board of directors is authorized to issue these shares of preferred stock without 
stockholder approval in different classes and series and, with respect to each class or series, to determine the dividend rate, 
the redemption provisions, conversion provisions, liquidation preference, and other rights, privileges, and restrictions.  

The Company has offered a private placement of 5,000 shares, par value of $0.50 per share, Series A Non-Cumulative 
Convertible Preferred Stock at $1,000 per share.  The preferred stock is convertible, at any time, into shares of common 
stock, par value $0.50 per share, at the option of the holder. 

Upon a deemed liquidation event of Lyons Bancorp, the holders of the preferred shares are entitled to receive a liquidation 
distribution of $1,000 per share plus any declared and unpaid dividends, before any distribution of assets to holders of 
common stock.  Dividends will be paid quarterly, if declared by the board of directors, at a rate per annum equal to 5%.  As 
of December 31, 2024, 4,805 shares, par value $0.50 per share, of the authorized preferred stock have been issued and are 
outstanding. In 2024 and in 2023, there were 125 shares and 70 shares, respectively, of preferred stock that were converted 
to common stock. As of December 31, 2023, 4,930 shares, par value $0.50 per share, of the authorized preferred stock have 
been issued and are outstanding.  

Common Stock – The holders of the Company’s common stock are entitled to receive dividends, if any, the board of 
directors may declare from time to time from funds legally available therefore, subject to the preferential rights of the  

2024 2023

Deferred tax assets
Allowance for credit losses on loans 5,591$          5,202$           
Net unrealized gain on available for sale securities 11,658 12,409           
Compensation and benefits 1,992 2,160
Prepaid pension 231 690
Other 2,774 2,628

Total deferred tax assets 22,246$        23,089$          

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation 695$             772$              
Other 2,460 2,205

Total deferred tax liabilities 3,155$          2,977$           
Net deferred tax assets 19,091$        20,112$          

(In thousands)
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Note 9 - Stockholders’ Equity – (Continued) 
 
holders of any shares of preferred stock that the Company may issue in the future. The holders of the Company’s common 
stock are entitled to one vote per share on any matter to be voted upon by stockholders. 

The common stock and treasury stock of the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows: 

 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss 

The amounts of income tax expense (benefit) allocated to each component of other comprehensive income (loss) are as 
follows for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2024 2023
Common stock, authorized shares, $0.50 par value 15,000,000 15,000,000

Issued shares 3,437,214 3,437,614
Less: treasury stock shares (33,584) (11,778)
Outstanding shares 3,403,630 3,425,836

2024 2023
Securities available for sale: (in thousands) (in thousands)

Net unrealized gains during the year 734$                 893$                 
Reclassification adjustment for losses included in income 18                     9                      

Pension and Postretirement benefit: 
Amortization of net loss 24                     10                    
Net Actuarial gain (loss) 283                   (192)                 

Tax expense 1,059$               720$                 
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Note 9 - Stockholders’ Equity – (Continued) 
 
Reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as 
follows: 

 

 

The balances and changes in the components of accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, are as follows: 

 
 

 

 

 

Details About Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income Components

Amount Reclassified from 
Accumulated Other 

Comprehensive Incpme

Amount Reclassified 
from Accumulated Other 

Comprehensive Incme
Affected Line Item In The Statement Where 

Net Income is Presented

2024 2023

(in thousands) (in thousands)
Unrealized Losses on avaliable for sale securities (71)$                  (32)$                 Net realized gain/(loss) from sales of securities

Tax Benefit 18                     9                      Income tax expense

Net of Tax (53)                    (23)                   

Amortization of Pension and postretirement benefit plan items
Net Losses (96) (42)
Tax Benefit 24 10 Income tax expense

Net of Tax (72) (32)

Total Reclassification for the year, net of tax (125)$                (55)$                 

(In thousands)

Unrealized 
losses on 
securities 

available for 
sale

Pension and 
postretirement 

benefits Total

Balance – January 1, 2023 (39,932)$          (1,970)$             (41,902)$        
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 2,680               (580)                  2,100            

Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income 23                   32                     55                 
Other comprehensive income (loss) for 2023 2,703               (548)                  2,155            

Balance – December 31, 2023 (37,229)$          (2,518)$             (39,747)$        

Other comprehensive income before reclassifications 2,201$           845$                3,046$         
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income 53                  72                    125              

Other comprehensive income for 2024 2,254             917                  3,171           
Balance – December 31, 2024 (34,975)$        (1,601)$            (36,576)$      
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Note 10 - Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans 

The Company participates in the New York State Bankers Retirement System (the “System”), a non-contributory defined 
benefit pension plan (the “Pension Plan”) covering substantially all employees.  The benefits are based on years of service 
and the employee’s highest average compensation during five consecutive years of employment.  

The Company also maintains an unfunded postretirement health insurance plan (the “Healthcare Plan”) for certain 
employees meeting eligibility requirements.   

The Company engages independent, external actuaries to compute the amounts of liabilities and expense relating to these 
plans, subject to the assumptions that the Company selects. The benefit obligation for these plans represents the liability of 
the Company for current and retired employees, and is affected primarily by the following: service cost (benefits attributed 
to employee service during the period); interest cost (interest on the liability due to the passage of time); actuarial 
gains/losses (experience during the year different from that assumed and changes in plan assumptions); and benefits paid to 
participants. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the Pension Plan’s benefit obligations and fair value of assets 
and the accumulated benefit obligation for the Healthcare Plan for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

 

The significant actuarial gain in 2024 is attributable to a change in discount rate and demographic experience.  

The unfunded status of the Pension and Healthcare Plans as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 is included as a component of 
accrued interest payable and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. 

2024 2023 2024 2023

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year 23,619$          21,120$          514$              501$              

Service cost 1,340 1,229 - 5
Interest cost 1,199 1,126 28 30
Actuarial (gain) loss (1,956) 855 12 8
Expected expenses (259) (178) - - 
Benefits paid "expected" (779) (533) (31) (30)

Benefit obligation at end of year 23,164 23,619 523 514

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 20,840$          20,400$          - - 

Actual return on plan assets 555 1,283 - - 
Employer contribution 2,000 - 31 30
Actual expenses paid (299) (211) - - 
Benefits paid (898) (632) (31) (30)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 22,198 20,840 -                    -                    
Unfunded status recognized (966)$             (2,779)$          (523)$             (514)$             

Accumulated benefit obligation 20,186$          20,145$          (680)$             (598)$             

(In thousands)

Pension Plan Healthcare Plan
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Note 10 - Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans (Continued) 
 
The components of net periodic benefit cost and other comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2024 
and 2023 are as follows: 

 

The following table presents the pension and healthcare components components of accumulated other comprehensive loss, 
net of taxes, as of December 31: 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2024 2023 2024 2023

Components of net periodic benefit cost:
Service cost 1,340$            1,229$           - 5$                  
Interest cost 1,199 1,126 28 30
Expected return on plan assets (1,201) (1,053) - - 
Amortization of net loss 84 34 12 8

Net periodic benefit cost 1,422$            1,336$           40$                43$                

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations
recognized in other comprehensive income:

Net (gain) loss (1,149)$           757$              19$                15$                
Recognized actuarial loss (84) (34) (12) (8)

Recognized in other comprehensive income (1,233) 723 7 7
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other

comprehensive income 189$               2,058$           47$                50$                

Pension Plan Healthcare Plan

(In thousands)

2024 2023 2024 2023

Other -$               -$               42$                88$                
Net actuarial loss 1,442 2,367 117 63

1,442$            2,367$           159$              151$              

Pension Plan Healthcare Plan

(In thousands)
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Note 10 - Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans (Continued) 
 
The estimated costs that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive loss into net periodic cost during 2025 
are as follows: 

 

Weighted-average assumptions used in accounting for the plans were as follows: 
 

 
 
The assumed health care cost trend rate used in the postretirement health care plan at December 31, 2024 was 4.00%.  
Assumed health care trend rates may have a significant effect on the amounts reported for this plan. A 1% increase in the 
trend rate would increase the periodic benefit cost by $3,900 and increase the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation 
by $70,000. 

The discount rate used for each period was based upon the rates of return on high-quality fixed income investments.  The 
objective of using this approach is to measure the single amount that, if invested at the measurement date in a portfolio of 
high-quality debt instruments, would provide the necessary future cash flows to pay benefits when they became due.  The 
discount rates are evaluated at each measurement date to give effect to changes in the general level of interest rates. 
 
The Company utilizes Total Data Set Employee/Retiree Sex-distinct Mortality Tables with Contingent Survivor Tables for 
current beneficiaries (Pri-2012), with full generational projection using Scale MP-2021.  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Pension           
Plan

Healthcare 
Plan Total

Net actuarial loss -$               7$                  7$                  
Total -$               7$                  7$                  

(In thousands)

2024 2023 2024 2023
Discount rates:

Benefit cost for Plan Year 5.68% 5.41% 4.80% 4.99%
Benefit obligation at end of Plan Year 5.15% 5.15% 5.50% 4.80%

Expected long-term return on plan assets 6.50% 6.50% N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase:

Benefit cost for Plan Year 3.00% 3.00% N/A N/A
Benefit obligation at end of Plan Year 3.00% 3.00% N/A N/A

Pension Plan Healthcare Plan
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Note 10 - Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans (Continued) 

The Company’s funding policy is to contribute, at a minimum, an actuarially determined amount that will satisfy the 
minimum funding requirements determined under the appropriate sections of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company 
made a $2.0 million pension plan contribution in 2024, but did not make a pension plan contribution in 2023. 

Estimated future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pension Plan Healthcare Plan
Years Ending December 31,

2025 817$             54$                    
2026 887               53                      
2027 975               52                      
2028 1,126            51                      
2029 1,186            50                      
2030-2034 7,538            238                    
Total 12,529$         498$                  

(In thousands)
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Note 10 - Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans (Continued) 

The fair value of the Company’s pension plan assets at December 31, 2024 and 2023 by asset category are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Total

(Level 1) Quoted 
Prices in Active 

Markets for 
Identical Assets

(Level 2) 
Significant Other 

Observable 
Inputs

(Level 3) 
Significant 

Unobservable 
Inputs

December 31, 2024
Cash equivalent:

Foreign currencies -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       
Short tern investment funds -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total cash equivalents -                         -                         -                         -                         

Equity Securitties:
Common stock -                         -                         -                         -                         
Depository receipts -                         -                         -                         -                         
Commingled pension trust funds -                         -                         -                         -                         
Preferred stock -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total equity securities -                         -                         -                         -                         

Fixed income securites
Collateralized mortgage obligations -                         -                         -                         -                         
Commingled pension trust fund -                         -                         -                         -                         
Corporate bonds -                         -                         -                         -                         
Government National Mortgage Association II -                         -                         -                         -                         
Government Issues -                         -                         -                         -                         
Other securities -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total fixed income securities -                         -                         -                         -                         

Other financial instruments
Commingled pension financial instruments -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total other financial instruments -                         -                         -                         -                         
Subtotal: -                         -                         -                         -                         
Investments valued using Net Asset Value 22,198                

Total 22,198$              

(In thousands)
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Note 10 - Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans (Continued) 

 

 
At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the portfolio was substantially managed by one investment firm who controlled 
approximately 96% and 98%, respectively, of the System’s assets. In addition, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
approximately $939,000 and $308,000, respectively, of Pension Plan monies had not yet been allocated to an investment 
manager. 
 
At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the System had an investment concentration of approximately 96% and 98% respectively, 
of its total portfolio in the JPMCD LDI Diversified Balanced Fund, a commingled pension trust fund. 
 
 

 
 

Total

(Level 1) Quoted 
Prices in Active 

Markets for 
Identical Assets

(Level 2) 
Significant Other 

Observable 
Inputs

(Level 3) 
Significant 

Unobservable 
Inputs

December 31, 2023
Cash equivalent:

Foreign currencies -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       
Short tern investment funds -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total cash equivalents -                         -                         -                         -                         

Equity Securitties:
Common stock -                         -                         -                         -                         
Depository receipts -                         -                         -                         -                         
Commingled pension trust funds -                         -                         -                         -                         
Preferred stock -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total equity securities -                         -                         -                         -                         

Fixed income securites
Collateralized mortgage obligations -                         -                         -                         -                         
Commingled pension trust fund -                         -                         -                         -                         
Corporate bonds -                         -                         -                         -                         
Government National Mortgage Association II -                         -                         -                         -                         
Government Issues -                         -                         -                         -                         
Other securities -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total fixed income securities -                         -                         -                         -                         

Other financial instruments
Commingled pension financial instruments -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total other financial instruments -                         -                         -                         -                         
Subtotal: -                         -                         -                         -                         
Investments valued using Net Asset Value 20,840                

Total 20,840$              

(In thousands)
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Note 10 - Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans (Continued) 
 
Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) 
in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
on the measurement date. 
 
Valuation techniques used to measure fair value under ASC 820 must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize 
the use of unobservable inputs. The standard describes a fair value hierarchy based on three levels of inputs, of which the 
first two are considered observable and the last unobservable, that may be used to measure fair value which are the 
following: 
 

• Level 1- Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
• Level 2- Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar 

assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be 
corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. 

 
• Level 3- Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair 

value of the assets or liabilities. 
 
The Pension Plan is valued utilizing the valuation policies set forth by a JP Morgan’s asset management committee. 
Underlying investments for which market quotations are readily available are valued at their market value. Underlying 
investments for which market quotations are not readily available are fair valued by approved affiliated and/or unaffiliated 
pricing vendors, third-party broker-deals or methodologies as approved by the asset management committee. Fixed income 
instruments are valued based on prices received from approved affiliated and unaffiliated pricing vendors or third party 
broker-dealers (collectively referred to as “Pricing Services”). The Pricing Services use multiple valuation techniques to 
determine the valuation of fixed income instruments. In instances where sufficient market activity exists, the Pricing services 
may utilize a market-based approach through which trades or quotes from market makers are used to determine the valuation 
of these instruments. In instances where sufficient market activity may not exist, the Pricing Services also utilize proprietary 
valuation models which may consider market transactions in comparable securities and the various relationships between 
securities in determining fair value and/or market characteristics in order to estimate the relevant cash flows, which are then 
discounted to calculate the fair values. Equities and other exchange-traded instruments are valued at the last sales price or 
official market closing price on the primary exchange on which the instrument is traded before the net asset values (“NAV”) 
of the Funds are calculated on a valuation date. Futures contracts are generally valued on the basis of available market 
quotations. Forward foreign currency exchange contracts are valued utilizing market quotations from approved Pricing 
Services. The Fund invests in the Commingled Pension Trust Fund (“Strategic Property Fund”) of JPMorgan Chase Bank, 
N.A. (the “SPF”), which holds significant amounts of investments which have been fair valued at December 31, 2024 and 
2023. 
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Note 10 - Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans (Continued) 
 
During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no changes in valuation methodologies and no transfers 
in or out of levels 1, 2 or 3. 

The Pension Plan was established in 1938 to provide for the payment of benefits to employees of participating Banks. The 
Pension Plan is overseen by a Board of Trustees who meet quarterly and set the investment policy guidelines. 

The New York Bankers Retirement System (“System”) overall investment strategy is to invest in a diversified portfolio 
while managing the variability between the assets and projected liabilities of underfunded pension plans. The System’s 
Board Members approved a migration (the “Migration”) of substantially all of the System’s assets to one fund, Commingled 
Pensions Trust Fund (LDI Diversified Balanced) of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“JPMCB LDI Diversified Balanced 
Fund” or the “Fund”). The Board made the election in their December 2018 meeting and the Migration had an effective 
trade date of February 28, 2019. The Fund employs a liability driven investing (“LDI”) strategy for pension plans that are 
seeking a solution that is balanced between growth and hedging. The Bloomberg Barclays Long A U.S. Corporate Index, 
the Fund’s primary liability-performance benchmark, is used as a proxy for plan projected liabilities. The growth-oriented 
portion of the Fund invests in a mix of asset classes that the Fund’s Trustee believes will collectively maximize total risk-
adjusted return through a combination of capital appreciation and income. This portion of the Fund will comprise between 
35% and 90% of the portfolio and will invest directly or indirectly via underlying funds in a broad mix of global equity, 
credit, global fixed income, real estate and cash-plus strategies. The remaining portion of the Fund, between 10% and 65% 
of the portfolio, provides exposure to U.S. long duration fixed income and is used to minimize volatility relative to a plan’s 
projected liabilities. This portion of the Fund will invest directly or indirectly via underlying funds in investment grade 
corporate bonds and securities issued by the U.S. Treasury and its agencies or instrumentalities. 

Prior to the Migration, the System’s overall investment strategy was to achieve a mix of approximately 97% of investments 
for long-term growth and 3% for near-term benefit payments with a wide diversification of asset types, fund strategies, and 
fund managers. The Board made the election in their December 2018 meeting and the Migration had an effective trade date 
of February 28, 2019. The Fund employs a liability driven investing (“LDI”) strategy for pension plans that are seeking a 
solution that is balanced between growth and hedging. The Bloomberg Barclays Long A U.S. Corporate Index, the Fund’s 
primary liability-performance benchmark, is used as a proxy for plan projected liabilities. The growth-oriented portion of 
the Fund invests in a mix of asset classes that the Fund’s Trustee believes will collectively maximize total risk-adjusted 
return through a combination of capital appreciation and income. This portion of the Fund will comprise between 35% and 
90% of the portfolio and will invest directly or indirectly via underlying funds in a broad mix of global equity, credit, global 
fixed income, real estate and cash-plus strategies. The remaining portion of the Fund, between 10% and 65% of the portfolio, 
provides exposure to U.S. long duration fixed income and is used to minimize volatility relative to a plan’s projected 
liabilities. This portion of the Fund will invest directly or indirectly via underlying funds in investment grade corporate 
bonds and securities issued by the U.S. Treasury and its agencies or instrumentalities. 
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Note 10 - Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans (Continued) 

The target allocation for 2024 and actual allocation of plan assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows: 

 

  

Defined Contribution Plan 

The Bank has a contributory 401(k) Plan for substantially all employees.  Employees are eligible to contribute a percentage 
of their salary up to the maximum as determined by the Internal Revenue Service. The Bank matches 75% of the employees' 
contributions up to a maximum of 6% of the employees' salaries. The Bank contributed $665,000 and $604,000 under these 
provisions during 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Supplemental Employee Retirement Plans 

The Company maintains supplemental employee retirement plans (the “SERP”) for certain executives. All benefits provided 
under the SERP are unfunded and, as these executives retire, the Company will make payments to plan participants.  The 
unfunded status of the SERP at both December 31, 2024 and 2023, was $6.9 million respectively, and is recorded as a 
component of accrued interest payable and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.  Compensation credit related 
to the SERP was $0 and $335,000 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Deferred Compensation Plans 

The Company’s deferred compensation plans require a vesting period of three years from the original date the executive 
enters the plan. Awarded shares from the plan are restricted from being sold until employment is terminated.   
 
The Company obtains shares for the new deferred compensation plan either through open market purchases or from treasury 
shares.  The amount of awarded shares is based on the amount earned by each executive under the deferred compensation 
plan.  The executives are awarded a number of shares based on the amount of deferred compensation earned divided by the 
value of the shares.  The value of the shares purchased on the open market is the price paid.  The value of the shares from 
treasury is the average daily closing price of the stock for each day within the past quarter. Total deferred compensation 
shares were 145,178 and 149,844 at December 31, 2024 and 2023 respectively.  Total shares awarded were 9,334 and 6,770 
for 2024 and 2023, respectively.  Compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period, and is based upon the total 
amount of the value of the shares awarded to each executive.  Compensation expense related to the plan was approximately 
$208,000 and $193,000 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 

 

 

Asset Category
Target Allocation 

2024 2024 2023

Cash equivalents 0% 0.0% 0.1%
Equity securities 30% 32.5% 31.5%
Fixed income securities 15% 19.0% 36.1%
Other financial instruments 55% 48.5% 32.2%

% of Plan Assets at December 31,



Lyons Bancorp, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 
 
 
 

54 

Note 11 - Earnings Per Share 

The following table presents a reconciliation of the earnings and shares used in calculating basic and diluted EPS for each 
of the years ended December 31: 

 
 
Note 12 - Related Party Transactions 

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank has and expects to continue to have transactions, including loans and deposit 
accounts, with the Company's and the Bank's executive officers and directors and their affiliates.  In the opinion of 
management, such transactions were on substantially the same terms, including interest rates and collateral, as those 
prevailing at the time of comparable transactions with other unrelated persons and did not involve more than a normal risk 
of collectability or present any other unfavorable features.   

The amount of loans to such related parties as of, and for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows: 
 
 

 
 
Deposits from principal officers, directors, and their affiliates at both December 31, 2024 and 2023 were $12.0 million.  
 

 

2024 2023

Net Income attributable to Lyons Bancorp, Inc. 15,464$             17,354$             
Adjustments for dilutive potential common shares - - 
Less: Preferred stock dividends (243) (250)

Net income available for diluted common shares 15,221$             17,104$             

Weighted average common shares used to calculate basic EPS 3,414,739 3,421,460
Add: effect of common stock equivalents1 115,320 120,000

Weighted average common shares used to calculate diluted EPS 3,530,059 3,541,460

Earnings per common share:
Basic 4.46$                 5.00$                 
Diluted 4.38$                 4.90$                 

(1) 5,000 shares of convertible preferred stock are convertible into 120,000 shares of LYBC common stock

(In thousands, except per share data)

2024 2023
(In thousands) (In thousands)

Beginning Balance 17,085$          16,419$          
New Loans 4,153              2,839              
Change in Related Party Status (290)               95                  
Sold Loans (1,760)             (839)               
Repayments (2,937)             (1,429)             
Ending Balance 16,251$          17,085$          
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Note 13 - Commitments and Contingent Liabilities 

The Bank is a party to financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the 
financing needs of its customers.  These financial instruments include commitments to extend credit and standby letters of 
credit.  These instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amounts 
recognized in the consolidated balance sheets.  The Bank uses the same credit policies in making commitments and 
conditional obligations as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments.   

The Bank’s exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial instrument for 
commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit is represented by the contractual notional amount of those 
instruments summarized as follows at December 31: 

 

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition 
established in the contract.  Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require 
payment of a fee. Since many of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment 
amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements. 

The Bank evaluates each customer’s credit worthiness on a case-by-case basis.  The amount and type of collateral obtained, 
if deemed necessary by the Bank upon extension of credit, varies and is based on management’s credit evaluation of the 
counterparty. 

Standby letters of credit are conditional lending commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee the performance of a customer 
to a third party.  These letters of credit are primarily issued to support public and private borrowing arrangements.  Generally, 
letters of credit issued have expiration dates within one year.  The credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit is essentially 
the same as that involved in extending loan facilities to customers.  The Bank’s policy for obtaining collateral, and the 
nature of such collateral, is essentially the same as that involved in making commitments to extend credit.  The Bank 
generally holds collateral supporting those commitments. Such collateral amounted to $10.9 million and $10.7 million at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  The amount of the liability related to guarantees under standby letters of credit 
was not material at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

In addition to other investors, the Bank sells residential mortgage loans to the FHLB.  The agreement with the FHLB 
includes a maximum credit enhancement liability of $4.8 million at both December 31, 2024 and 2023, which the Bank may 
be required to pay if realized losses on any of the sold mortgages exceed the amount held in the FHLB’s spread account.  
The FHLB is funding the spread account annually based on the outstanding balance of loans  

2024 2023

Commitments to extend credit:
Commitments to grant  loans 190,454$    185,361$    
Unfunded commitments under commercial lines of credit 179,774 171,432
Unfunded commitments under consumer lines of credit 147,891 142,478

Standby letters of credit 11,493 12,105

529,612$    511,376$    

(In thousands)
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Note 13 - Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Continued) 

sold.  The Bank’s historical losses on residential mortgages have been lower than the amount being funded to the spread 
account.  As such, the Bank does not anticipate recognizing any losses and, accordingly, has not recorded a liability for the 
credit enhancement. 

In addition to pledging investment securities to secure deposits, the Bank has entered into an agreement with the FHLB 
whereby the FHLB agrees to issue letters of credit for the benefit of securing deposits.  In the event the FHLB makes a 
payment under this agreement, such payment will constitute an advance to the Bank and shall be immediately due and 
payable. The Bank has pledged otherwise unencumbered mortgage-related assets to secure letters of credit from the FHLB. 
As of December 31, 2024, the Bank had letters of credit outstanding with FHLB of $149.4 million and as of December 31, 
2023, the Bank had letters of credit outstanding with the FHLB of $97.3 million. 

Note 14 - Concentrations of Credit 

The Company’s loan customers are located primarily in the New York communities served by the Bank. Investments in 
state and local government securities also involve governmental entities within the Company’s market area.  Although 
operating in numerous communities in New York State, the Company is still dependent on the general economic conditions 
of New York.  The largest concentration of credit by industry is Lessors of Residential Buildings and Dwellings, with loans 
outstanding of $115.5 million or 7.86% of total loans as of December 31, 2024.  The largest concentration of credit by 
industry is Lessors of Residential Buildings and Dwellings, with loans outstanding of $97.5 million or 7.07% of total loans 
as of December 31, 2023. Risk related to this concentration is controlled through adherence to loan policy guidelines, 
including appropriate debt service coverage, adequate property values substantiated by current appraisals, and obtaining 
guarantors where appropriate.  The Company, as a matter of policy, does not extend credit to any single borrower, or group 
of related borrowers, in excess of its legal lending limit. Further information on the Company’s lending activities is provided 
in Note 3. 
 
Note 15 - Regulatory Matters 
 
The supervision and regulation of financial and Bank holding companies and their subsidiaries is intended primarily for the 
protection of depositors, the deposit insurance funds regulated by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) and 
the Banking system as a whole, and not for the protection of shareholders or creditors of Bank holding companies. The 
various Bank regulatory agencies have broad enforcement power over financial holding companies and Banks, including 
the power to impose substantial fines, operational restrictions and other penalties for violations of laws and regulations and 
for safety and soundness considerations.  
 
Capital 

The Company (on a consolidated basis) and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered 
by federal Banking agencies.  Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory, and possibly 
additional discretionary, actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the Company’s and 
the Bank’s consolidated financial statements.  Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt 
corrective action, the Company and the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of 
their assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance-sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices.  The capital 
amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings, 
and other factors. 
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Note 15 - Regulatory Matters (Continued) 
Capital (Continued) 

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Company and the Bank to maintain 
minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the table below) of total and Tier I capital (as defined by regulation) and of Tier 
I capital (as defined) to average assets (as defined). The Company’s and the Bank’s capital amounts and ratios are also 
presented in the table below. 

The Basel III Capital Rules establish a comprehensive capital framework for U.S. Banking organizations.  The rules 
implement the framework known as “Basel III” for strengthening international capital standards as well as certain provisions 
of the Dodd-Frank Act.  The Basel III Capital Rules define the components of capital, and address risk weights and other 
issues affecting the denominator in the Banking institutions’ regulatory capital ratios.     

Dodd-Frank requires a common equity tier 1 capital ratio (CET1).  This ratio allows only common equity to qualify as tier 
1 capital.  The CET1 ratio includes most elements of accumulated other comprehensive income, including unrealized 
securities gains and losses, as part of both total regulatory capital (numerator) and total assets (denominator).   

Community Banks, however, were given the opportunity to make a one-time irrevocable election to include or not to include 
certain elements of other comprehensive income, most notably unrealized securities gains or losses.  The Company and the 
Bank elected to not include the certain items of other comprehensive income in their capital calculations. 

Capital rules include a capital conservation buffer, which must be added to each of the minimum capital ratios and is 
designed to absorb losses during periods of economic stress.  The capital conservation buffer is 2.5% when fully phased-in.  
If a Banking organization fails to hold capital above minimum capital ratios, including the capital conservation buffer, it 
will be subject to certain restrictions on capital distribution and discretionary bonus payments. 
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Note 15 - Regulatory Matters (Continued) 

 

 

 

 

Actual For Capital Adequacy 
Purposes

To be Well Capitalized 
under Prompt Corrective 

Action Provisions
Minimum for Capital 
Adequacy with Buffer

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

December 31, 2024:
Total risk-based capital 
Consolidated 170,606$    12.1% 112,810$    ≥8.0% 141,013$    ≥10.0% 148,063$    ≥10.5%
Bank 191,408$    13.6% 112,902$    ≥8.0% 141,128$    ≥10.0% 148,184$    ≥10.5%

Tier 1 capital 
Consolidated 152,877$    10.8% 84,608$      ≥6 .0% 112,810$    ≥8.0% 119,861$    ≥8.5%
Bank 173,665$    12.3% 84,677$      ≥6 .0% 112,902$    ≥8.0% 119,959$    ≥8.5%

Tier 1 leverage
Consolidated 152,877$    7.8% 78,724$      ≥4.0% 98,405$      ≥ 5.0% 98,405$      ≥ 6.5%
Bank 173,665$    8.8% 78,705$      ≥4.0% 98,382$      ≥ 5.0% 98,382$      ≥ 6.5%

Common Equity Tier 1
Consolidated 116,300$    8.2% 63,456$      ≥4.5% 91,658$      ≥ 6.5% 98,709$      ≥ 7.0%
Bank 137,089$    9.7% 63,507$      ≥4.5% 91,733$      ≥ 6.5% 98,789$      ≥ 7.0%

Actual For Capital Adequacy 
Purposes

To be Well Capitalized 
under Prompt Corrective 

Action Provisions
Minimum for Capital 
Adequacy with Buffer

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

December 31, 2023:
Total risk-based capital 
Consolidated 158,865$    12.0% 106,269$    ≥8.0% 132,836$    ≥10.0% 139,478$    ≥10.5%
Bank 181,016$    13.6% 106,221$    ≥8.0% 132,776$    ≥10.0% 139,415$    ≥10.5%

Tier 1 capital 
Consolidated 142,164$    10.7% 79,702$      ≥6.0% 106,269$    ≥8.0% 112,911$    ≥8.5%
Bank 164,322$    12.4% 79,666$      ≥6.0% 106,221$    ≥8.0% 112,860$    ≥8.5%

Tier 1 leverage
Consolidated 142,164$    7.7% 73,811$      ≥4.0% 92,264$      ≥ 5.0% 92,264$      ≥ 6.5%
Bank 164,322$    8.9% 73,837$      ≥4.0% 92,297$      ≥ 5.0% 92,297$      ≥ 6.5%

Common Equity Tier 1
Consolidated 102,416$    7.7% 59,776$      ≥4.5% 86,344$      ≥ 6.5% 92,985$      ≥ 7.0%
Bank 124,575$    9.4% 59,749$      ≥4.5% 86,305$      ≥ 6.5% 92,943$      ≥ 7.0%
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Note 15 - Regulatory Matters (Continued) 

Management believes, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, that the Company and the Bank met all capital adequacy 
requirements to which they are subject. 

As of the most recent notification from the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, the Bank was categorized as well 
capitalized. There are no conditions or events since the notification that management believes have changed the institution’s 
category. 
 
Dividend Restrictions  
 
In the ordinary course of business, the Company is dependent upon dividends from the Bank to provide funds for the 
payment of interest expense on the debentures, dividends to shareholders, and to provide for other cash requirements. 
Banking regulations may limit the amount of dividends that may be paid. Approval by regulatory authorities is required if 
the effect of dividends declared would cause the regulatory capital of the Bank to fall below specified minimum levels. 
Approval is also required if dividends declared exceed the net profits for that year combined with the retained net profits 
for the preceding two years.  
 
At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Bank’s retained earnings available for the payment of dividends were approximately 
$33.9 million and $35.5 million, respectively. 
 

Note 16 - Fair Value Measurements and Fair Values of Financial Instruments  

Determination of Fair Value 

The Company uses fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain assets and liabilities and to determine 
fair value disclosures.  The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  Fair value is best 
determined based upon quoted market prices.  However, in many instances, there are no quoted market prices for the 
Company’s various assets and liabilities.  In cases where quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based on 
estimates using present value or other valuation techniques.  Those techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions 
used, including the discount rate and estimates of future cash flows.  Accordingly, the fair value estimates may not be 
realized in an immediate settlement of the instrument. 

Fair value guidance provides a consistent definition of fair value, which focuses on exit price in an orderly transaction (that 
is, not a forced liquidation or distressed sale) between market participants at the measurement date under current market 
conditions.  If there has been a significant decrease in the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability, a change in 
valuation technique or the use of multiple valuation techniques may be appropriate.  In such instances, determining the price 
at which willing market participants would transact at the measurement date under current market conditions depends on 
the facts and circumstances and requires the use of significant judgment.   
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Note 16 - Fair Value Measurements and Fair Values of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

Fair Value Hierarchy 

The Company groups its financial assets and financial liabilities generally measured at fair value in three levels, based on 
the markets in which the assets and liabilities are traded and the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair value. 

Level 1: Valuation is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are 
accessible at the measurement date.  Level 1 assets and liabilities generally include debt and equity securities 
that are traded in an active exchange market.    

 
Level 2: Valuation is based upon inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable either directly 

or indirectly.  The valuation may be based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in 
markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data 
for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.  

Level 3: Valuation is based on unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant 
to the fair value measurement.  Level 3 assets and liabilities include financial instruments whose value is 
determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as 
instruments for which determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation. 

An asset’s or liability’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement. 

The following information should not be interpreted as an estimate of the fair value of the entire Company since a fair value 
calculation is only provided for a limited portion of the Company’s assets and liabilities.  Due to a wide range of valuation 
techniques and the degree of subjectivity used in making the estimates, comparisons between the Company’s disclosures 
and those of other companies may not be meaningful.  The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the 
fair values of the Company’s financial instruments at December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

Cash, Due From Banks, and Interest-bearing Deposits in Banks 

The carrying amounts reported on the consolidated balance sheets for these assets approximate fair values based on the 
short-term nature of the assets.  

Investment Securities 

The fair value of securities available for sale and held to maturity are determined by obtaining quoted market prices on 
nationally recognized securities exchanges (Level 1), or pricing models (Level 2), which consider standard input factors 
such as observable market data, benchmark yields, interest rate volatilities, broker/dealer quotes, credit spreads and new 
issue data.  For certain securities which are not traded in active markets or are subject to transfer restrictions, valuations are 
adjusted to reflect illiquidity and/or non-transferability, and such adjustments are generally based on available market 
evidence (Level 3).  In the absence of such evidence, management’s best estimate is used.   

Management’s best estimate consists of external support on certain Level 3 investments.  Management has determined that 
the fair value of local government securities in the held to maturity portfolio approximate their carrying value. Restricted 
equity securities have restrictions on their sale and are primarily carried at cost due to their limited marketability. The fair 
value of the Company’s investment in Farmer Mac is determined by obtaining quoted market prices on nationally recognized 
securities exchanges (Level 1). 
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Note 16 - Fair Value Measurements and Fair Values of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

Loans Held for Sale  

The fair value of loans held for sale is determined using quoted secondary-market prices.  If no such quoted prices exist, the 
fair value of a loan is determined using quoted prices for a similar loan or loans, adjusted for the specific attributes of that 
loan, resulting in a Level 3 classification. 

Loans  

The fair values of loans held in portfolio are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses. The discount rate considers a 
market participant’s cost of funds, liquidity premiums, capital charges, servicing charges, and expectations of future rate 
movements (for variable rate loans), resulting in a Level 3 classification. Projected future cash flows are calculated based 
upon contractual maturity or call dates, projected repayments and prepayments of principal, and adjusted for potential 
defaulted loans.  
  
Individually Analyzed Loans  

The fair value of loans individually analyzed is generally determined based upon independent third party appraisals of the 
properties (market approach), or discounted cash flows based upon the expected proceeds.  These assets are included as 
Level 3 fair values, based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurements.  The fair value 
consists of the loan balances of $3.3 million and $3.1 million, net of allowance for credit loss of $256,000 and $279,000 as 
of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Accrued Interest Receivable 

The carrying amount of accrued interest receivable approximates fair value. 

Accrued Interest Payable 

The carrying amount of accrued interest payable approximates fair value. 

Mortgage Servicing Rights  

The carrying amount of mortgage servicing rights approximates their fair value. 

Deposits  

The fair values disclosed for demand and savings deposits are equal to carrying amounts at the reporting date.  Fair values 
of fixed rate certificates of deposit are estimated using discounted cash flows and interest rates currently being offered in 
the market on similar certificates, resulting in a Level 2 classification. 

Borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank 

Fair values of borrowings from the FHLB and FRB are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis, based on quoted 
prices for new borrowings from the FHLB and FRB with similar credit risk characteristics, terms and remaining maturity, 
resulting in a Level 2 classification.  These prices obtained from this active market represent a market value that is deemed 
to represent the transfer price if the liability were assumed by a third party.   
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Note 16 - Fair Value Measurements and Fair Values of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

Junior Subordinated Debentures 

The fair values of junior subordinated debentures are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis, based on market rates 
currently offered on such debt with similar credit risk characteristics, terms and remaining maturity, resulting in a Level 2 
classification.  

Subordinated Debt Offering 

The fair values of the subordinated debt offering are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis, based on market rates 
currently offered on such debt with similar credit risk characteristics, terms and remaining maturity. The Company does not 
consider the difference between carrying value and fair value to be material. 

Off-Balance Sheet Financial Instruments  

Fair values for off-balance sheet financial instruments (lending commitments and letters of credit) are based on fees 
currently charged in the market to enter into similar agreements, taking into account, the remaining terms of the agreements 
and the counterparties’ credit standing.  

Accrued Interest Payable 

The carrying value of accrued interest payable approximates fair value.  

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis 
 
For financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, the fair value measurements by level within 
the fair value hierarchy used at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows: 
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Note 16 - Fair Value Measurements and Fair Values of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

 

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis 

 
Individually analyzed loans (level 3), mortgage servicing rights (level 2) and loans held for sale (level 3) are measured at 
fair value on a nonrecurring basis at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments at December 31, 2024 and 2023 
are as follows: 

 

 

 

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

December 31, 2024:
Securities available for sale:
United States agencies  $        133,744 $                    -  $        133,744 $               -
State and local governments             63,550 - 63,550 -
Mortgage-backed securities             68,942 - 68,942 -
Corporate securities             16,280 - 16,280 -
Total securities available for sale  $        282,516 $                    -  $        282,516 $               -

Restricted equity security  $              378  $              378 $                   - $               -

December 31, 2023:
Securities available for sale:
United States agencies  $        131,532 $                    -  $        131,532 $               -
State and local governments             78,804  - 78,804 -
Mortgage-backed securities             74,077  - 74,077 -
Corporate securities             15,507  - 15,507 -
Total securities available for sale  $        299,920 $                    -  $        299,920 $               -

Restricted equity security  $              343  $              343 $                   - $               -

Quoted Prices 
in Active 

Markets for 
Identical 

Assets

Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs
(In thousands)

Fair Value
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Note 16 - Fair Value Measurements and Fair Values of Financial Instruments (Continued) 

 

 

Amounts in the preceding table are included in the consolidated balance sheets under the applicable captions.  The fair 
values of off-balance sheet financial instruments are not significant. 

Note 17 – Revenue Recognition 
 
The majority of the Company's revenue-generating transactions are not subject to ASC 606, including revenue generated 
from financial instruments, such as loans and investment securities which are presented in the consolidated statements of 
income as components of net interest income. All of the Company's revenue from contracts with customers in the scope of 
ASC 606 is recognized within non-interest income, with the exception of net gains and losses from sales of foreclosed real 
estate, which is recognized within non-interest expense when applicable.  
 
The following table presents revenues subject to ASC 606 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  
Items outside the scope of ASC 606 are noted as such. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

Financial assets:
Cash and due from banks $21,246 $21,246 $20,595 $20,595 
Interest-bearing deposits in banks 46,447 46,447 36,678 36,678
Investment securities 326,315 323,642 347,468 344,080
Loans, net of allowance 1,447,496 1,337,819 1,359,117 1,192,687
Accrued interest receivable 7,000 7,000 6,663 6,663
Mortgage servicing rights 4,379 4,379 3,392 3,392

Financial liabilities:
Demand and savings deposits $1,219,232 $1,219,232 $1,205,573 $1,205,573 
Certificates of deposit 545,392 541,394 421,581 419,851
Borrowings from FRB 0 0 71,000 71,000
Junior subordinated debentures 5,155 5,102 5,155 5,107
Subordinated debt offering 15,785 15,785 15,772 15,772
Accrued interest payable 1,794 1,794 750 750

2024 2023
Fair Value 
Hierarchy

(In thousands)
1
1

1 and 2

1
2
2
2

1

3

2
1

2
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Note 17 – Revenue Recognition (Continued) 
 

 

Service Charges on Deposit Accounts: The Company earns fees from its deposit customers for transaction-based, account 
maintenance, and overdraft services. Transaction-based fees, which included services such as ATM use fees, stop payment 
charges, statement rendering, and ACH fees, are recognized at the time the transaction is executed as that is the point in 
time the Company fulfills the customer's request. Account maintenance fees, which relate primarily to monthly maintenance, 
are recognized at the time the maintenance occurs. Overdraft fees are recognized at the point in time that the overdraft 
occurs. Service charges on deposits are withdrawn from the customer's account balance. 
 
Cardholder Fees: The Company earns interchange fees from debit cardholder transactions conducted through the Fiserv 
payment network. Interchange fees from cardholder transactions represent a percentage of the underlying transaction value 
and are recognized daily, concurrently with the transaction processing services provided to cardholder.  
 
Loan Servicing Fees and Realized Gain on sale of Loans: Revenue from mortgage fee income, commercial loan fees, and 
realized gain on sales of loans is earned through the origination of residential mortgages and sales of one-to-four family 
residential mortgages loans and is recognized as transactions occur.  

2024 2023
Service charges on deposit accounts
Insufficient funds fees  $       1,764  $       1,683 
Deposit related fees             496             504 
ATM/point of sale  fees          1,068             988 

3,328 3,175

Cardholder fees
Debit card interchange fees 3,564 3,561
Other cardholder fees 861 848

4,425 4,409

Loan servicing fees and realized gain on sales of loans
Loan Servicing Fees* 2,525 2,192
Realized gain on sale of loans* 2,796 1,861

5,321 4,053

Financial services fees 2,129 1,746

Other miscellaneous income* 1,926 1,494

 $     17,129  $     14,877 

*Not within scope of ASC 606.

For the years ended
December 31,
(In thousands)
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Note 17 – Revenue Recognition (Continued) 
 
Financial Services Fees: The Company earns commissions from investment brokerage services provided to its customers 
by a third-party service provider. The Company receives fees from the third-party service provider on a monthly basis based  
upon customer activity for the month. The Company (i) acts as an agent in arranging the relationship between the customer 
and the third-party service provider and (ii) does control the selection of services but does not control the services rendered 
to the customers. Investment brokerage fees are presented net of related costs.  
 
Other Miscellaneous Income: The Company earns revenue from sources other than those listed above. Other income is 
mainly generated through the Bank-Owned Life Insurance (BOLI) death benefit as well as residential mortgage servicing 
rights.  
 
Note 18 – Leases 
 
In the normal course of business, the Company leases five of its branch locations and its back-office operations center.  
 
The Company’s leases have remaining terms that vary from less than 5 years up to 21 years, some of which include options 
to extend the leases for various renewal periods. All options to renew are included in the current lease term when the 
Company believes it is reasonably certain that the renewal options will be exercised. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lease Cost
For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

(In thousands)
Operating lease cost $389 $381

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

(In thousands)

Operating cash used for operating leases $389 $381

2024 2023

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

Cash paid for amount included in the measurement of 
operating lease liabilities:
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Note 18 – Leases (Continued) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Note 19 – Subsequent Events 
 
Management has evaluated subsequent events through March 7, 2025, the date in which these consolidated financial 
statements were available to be issued.  

Supplemental consolidated balance sheet information related to leases as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was as follows:

Balance Sheet
(In thousands, except lease term and discount rate) Classification
Operating Leases

Operating lease right-of-use assets
Accrued interest 
receivable and other assets $3,371 $3,766

Operating lease liabilities
Accrued interest payable 
and other liabilities $3,758 $4,141

Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term
Operating Leases 15.3 years 15.9 years

Weighted Average Discount Rate
Operating Leases 3.63% 3.61%

Future maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2024 were as follows:

Year Ending December 31,
(In thousands)
2025 $236
2026 $252
2027 $262
2028 $271
2029 $283
Thereafter $2,454
Total minimum lease payments $3,758

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
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